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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the
“Directors”) of Zhongjin Technology Services Group Company Limited
2 B RIS E R AR ] (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.

Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail.
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Company Profile
RREEN

Zhongjin Technology Services Group Company Limited A & &} iR 75
%= E W& 5 A R A 7 formerly known as ZZ Capital International
Limited 18 & AN BB G BR A A1) (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) (Stock Code: 08295) is
an investment holding company with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong. It was established in 2010 and is listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Group has acquired KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine")
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine Group”) on 15
October 2020 (the "Acquisition”), which constituted a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction of the Company
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The KingNine Group's
principal activities include the provision of the following services in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

(@)  Back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres);

(b)  Comprehensive marketing services; and
(c)  Data centre services

The Group’s another subsidiary, ZZCl Corporate Finance Limited
("ZZCF™"), is licensed with the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“SFC") for carrying on type 1 (dealing in securities),
type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities. It
provides a diversified range of corporate advisory and assets
management services.

In furtherance of the Group's business, a subsidiary of ZZCF, J&3I]
RIS RERERESEE AR QA (Asian Capital (Qianhai)
Investment Management Limited*) has been established in 2016,
which has been approved by Shenzhen Municipal Government
Financial Services Office as a Qualified Foreign Limited Partnership.

Moreover, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZZCl
Credit Limited, holds a money lenders licence, where the Group
can complement its financial services capabilities by providing
finance against marketable securities.

Further information about the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.zhongjintechnology.com.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmER DN
Dear Shareholders, BAIRRE

| am pleased to present the 2020/2021 annual report of Zhongjin
Technology Services Group Company Limited A & &HY iR % & B
f% {7 & BR A A (formerly known as ZZ Capital International Limited
i E ARBIB AR QA (the “Company”),and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the
“Year").

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

As disclosed in the announcement dated 10 September 2020 and
the circular dated 18 September 2020 (the “Circular”) published
by the Company, it entered into a share purchase deed on 10
September 2020 (the “Share Purchase Deed”) with regard to the
acquisition of the entire issued capital of KingNine Holdings
Limited (“KingNine"”) (the "Acquisition”) which constituted a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise defined herein, all
capitalized terms used in this report shall have same meanings as
those defined in the Circular.

According to the Share Purchase Deed, the total consideration for
the entire issued share capital of KingNine is RMB850 million, of
which approximately RMB180 million be settled by allotment and
issuance of the Company’s shares, RMB250 million be settled in
the form of a closing fund and RMB420 million be settled in the
form of cash. Up to 31 March 2021, the Company had issued
638,022,754 shares as the consideration shares, fully settled the
closing fund and paid RMB140 million as the tranche | of the cash
consideration. In accordance with the Share Purchase Deed, the
tranche Il to tranche V of the cash consideration in the aggregated
amount of RMB280 million (subject to the adjustment as set out
in the Share Purchase Deed) will be paid in four installments of
RMB70 million each on 31 July 2021, 31 July 2022, 31 July 2023
and 31 July 2024 respectively.

KingNine and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine Group”)
is an emerging leading outsourced customer service provider with
its principal place of business located in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") which mainly provide back-office services
(through the Contractual Arrangements as defined below),
comprehensive marketing services and data centre services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (K& & Zgh 2 RIS
B BR A 7)) ("Dalian Kingwisoft”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Dalian Kingwisoft Group”), which are among the entities
acquired in the Acquisition, engage in business of provision of
value-added telecommunications services that is subject to
restrictions imposed by relevant PRC laws on foreign investors of
foreign-invested telecommunication enterprises which engage in
the provision of value-added telecommunications services.

Due to such restrictions under the relevant PRC laws, and as
advised by the PRC legal advisor of the Company, it was not viable
for KingNine to directly hold any equity ownership in the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group. Instead, KingNine, in line with common
practice in industries in the PRC subject to restrictions imposed by
the PRC laws on relevant foreign investors and/or foreign
ownership on foreign-invested enterprises, achieves effective
control over, and receives the entire economic benefits generated
by the Dalian Kingwisofts Group through a series of contractual
agreements entered between Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.*
(& Z g E B BB A A (the "WFOE"), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of KingNine established in the PRC, on one
hand, and each of Dalian Kingwisoft and its registered
shareholders, on the other hand (the “Contractual
Arrangements”).

The completion of the Acquisition (the “Completion”) took place
on 15 October 2020. Following the Completion, KingNine has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the
financial results, assets and liabilities of the KingNine Group have
been consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of
the Company. Please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 19 August 2019, 10 September 2020 and 15 October
2020, and the Circular for further details of the Acquisition.

Save as aforementioned, the Group had no material acquisitions

or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the
Year.

* for identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWRR DM

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Profit Guarantee

Mr. Hu Shilong and Ms. Liu Yingying (the “Guarantors”) have
undertaken to the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Deed
that the audited consolidated net profit attributable to the equity
holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS for any given profit
guarantee period would not be less than the guaranteed profit in
respect of such profit guarantee period. The Company has
undertaken to the Guarantors that subject to the compliance of all
applicable laws and regulations (including the GEM Listing Rules
and the directors’ fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and
diligence), it would use reasonable endeavours to procure the
directors of DaLian Kingwisoft nominated by it to act in the
interests of the Group as a whole during the entire profit
guarantee period.

The profit guarantee period means each of the following periods
(together the “Guarantee Period”):

(@  the financial year of the KingNine Group commenced on 1
April 2019 and ended on 31 March 2020;

(b)  the financial year of the KingNine Group commenced on 1
April 2020 and ending on 31 March 2021;

(c)  the financial year of the KingNine Group commencing on 1
April 2021 and ending on 31 March 2022;

(d) the financial year of the KingNine Group commencing on 1
April 2022 and ending on 31 March 2023; and

(e)  the financial year of the KingNine Group commencing on 1
April 2023 and ending on 31 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Profit Guarantee (Continued)

The guaranteed profit means the audited consolidated net profit
attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with
HKFRS, as set out below:

(@ in respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April
2019 and ended on 31 March 2020, RMB60 million;

(b) in respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April
2020 and ending on 31 March 2021, RMB90 million;

(c) in respect of the Guarantee Period commencing on 1 April
2021 and ending on 31 March 2022, RMB120 million;

(d) in respect of the Guarantee Period commencing on 1 April
2022 and ending on 31 March 2023, RMB150 million; and

(e) in respect of the Guarantee Period commencing on 1 April
2023 and ending on 31 March 2024, RMB180 million;
(together the “Guarantee Profit”).

In the event that the actual amount of the audited consolidated
net profit attributable to the equity holders of KingNine for any
Guarantee Period is less than the Guaranteed Profit in respect of
such Guarantee Period in accordance with HKFRS, the Guarantors
are expected to compensate the Company by paying the
Company an amount in cash equal to (((A - B)/C) x D) — E,

BEEBNWmR DN

B AR EARWEBEEZ)

AR E ()

R ¥ i M 2 15 KingNine #E 52 5 B AIRIBE B 15
WEEAEIENEBZEALF -

(@) ®t H2019F4818 # £202063A831H
IFRRFREREMS - AARY60,000,0007T :

(b) #t 202054818 # E2021F3HA31H
IERMRFHRME - A AKE90,000,0007T

(© TH2021F4A18BEE2022F3A31H1E
MREHEMS © A AR 120,000,000 7T

(d) FEE2022F4 A1 H#EZE2023F3A31HIEMW
REHEmMS - AARE 150,000,000 : &

(e) Rt H2023F4A818 #£ £2024F3A31H
IEWIRFBEHREmMS - A AR 180,000,000
JC (5 MRE A ] ©

WIRIEEBMBHRE EREMREZERRED
KingNine £z #H A JE(L & BIZ AR A AT K B IR
SRENZRBHHORELF - BHEEASR
BTPARRIMEE  ARNABRAAATAIES Y H1E
ZR(((A-B)/C)xD) - EMESESEE -



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED & RHZ RIEEER D ERE A 7
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT %R

(Continued)

where:

T T
Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENmER DN
MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES MEAREXRKEBEIE &)
Profit Guarantee (Continued) wm A RE ()
Hep

A = the sum of: (i) the amount of the Guaranteed Profit in A = ()Z(RE BRI HFIEE  HEH()ZRE

respect of such Guarantee Period; and (ii) the amount of the HEF'EJFJ HREHENRE DN S % ZA

Guaranteed Profit in respect of each Guarantee Period
preceding such Guarantee Period;

B = the sum of: (i) the actual amount of the audited consolidated
net profit/net loss attributable to equity holders of KingNine
for such Guarantee Period; and (ii) the actual amount of the
audited consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity
holders of KingNine for each Guarantee Period preceding
such Guarantee Period;

C = RMB600,000,000 (i.e. the sum of the amount of the
Guaranteed Profit in respect of each Guarantee Period);

D = RMB779,392,971 (i.e. the Consideration less the amount of
the Consideration paid, or payable, by the Company to
Zhongzhi Xinzhuo); and

E = the sum of the amount of any such compensation which has
been paid by the Guarantors in respect of each Guarantee
Period preceding such Guarantee Period.

If the actual audited consolidated net profit attributable to the
equity holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS as shown in
its audited accounts (the “Actual Net Profit”) for any Guarantee
Period is less than the Guaranteed Profit in respect of such
Guarantee Period (the “Shortfall”), the Guarantors shall
compensate the Company the Shortfall in cash (the
“Compensation”) in accordance with the formula above. The
Compensation paid will not be returned by the Company to the
Guarantors in the subsequent Guarantee Period even if the Actual
Net Profit in the subsequent Guarantee Period is higher than the
Guaranteed Profit in respect of such subsequent Guarantee Period.

In the event that the accumulated amount of Actual Net Profit for
the Entire Guarantee Period is zero and the Shortfall for the Entire
Guarantee Period is therefore RMB600,000,000, the
Compensation obliged to be paid by the Guarantors for the
Shortfall equals the amount of Consideration paid by the
Company (other than the amount of the Consideration paid by
the Company to Zhongzhi Xinzhuo).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Profit Guarantee (Continued)

In the event that KingNine records an accumulated actual audited
consolidated net loss attributable to the equity holders of
KingNine in accordance with HKFRS for the Entire Guarantee
Period and the Shortfall for the Entire Guarantee Period is
therefore greater than RMB600,000,000, the amount of
Compensation obliged to be paid by the Guarantors will exceed
the Consideration paid by the Company (other than the amount
of the Consideration paid by the Company to Zhongzhi Xinzhuo).

It was agreed that the Compensation payable in respect of any
Guarantee Period as referred to above shall be settled by the
Guarantors within ten Business Days after the signed or certified
audited consolidated financial statements of in respect of
KingNine such Guarantee Period is approved by the board of
directors of KingNine.

The Share Purchase Deed provides for an express set-off right of
the Company which allows the Company to set off any
Compensation against any Cash Consideration which has not
been paid to the Founders SPV.

In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2019
and ended on 31 March 2020, the audited consolidated net profit
attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with
HKFRS was approximately RMB65.3 million, and is more than the
Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB60
million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April
2020 and ended on 31 March 2021, the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance
with HKFRS was approximately RMB93.6 million, and is more than
the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e.
RMB90 million).

The amount of the Guaranteed profit for each Guarantee Period
was arrived after arm’s length negotiations between the Company
and the Guarantors and is determined based on (i) overview of the
contact service centre industry and customer service outsourcing
industry in the PRC, (ii) the position of the KingNine Group as an
emerging leading service provider in the customer service
outsourcing industry in the PRC, and (iii) the business prospects of
the KingNine Group.

1

BEEENWE DN

B AR EARWEBEEZ)

AR E ()

fii KingNine A 2 (R 75 B AR B B B B 15 3R &5 24
RI#1S KingNine i =158 AB(H 2T BEBR L EZ
RABEFE SPBEARFHENEZEESNA
K% 600,000,000 7T * ARFEABEEZBZTHIHHE
SHEBBBARATENNRE(RARE M ES
EXMHRESERIN) o

Rt E - £ IR A B E ] R E B PR O R B
7% H R 7 AR KingNine /A B (R 78 BRI MO & 22 F
RIZENEEZEA W MREKngNiNeEEE
AR HEZXAREE -

BB ERIEHREARRR B ARNEFHERN - K
RE A E SRR A A AR IR B W REIX
MRS BRI -

FLA2019F 4 A1 B#E2020F3 A31 HIEAR
BHEMES RRESYBREENETH
KingNine# &= 158 AL & B IZER AT 5 A
R ¥ 65,300,000 7T * ® R %R 25 B AR 88 0% £l
(B0 A R #60,000,0007T) ° Bt F2020F4 A1 H
BE2021F3A3 BIEMRFHABME @ 12RE
78 B 75 R HE B 8 E MY KingNine # 3515 8 A E(R
LRIZIR A T4 B AR 93,600,0007T © &R
SR 5 BRI N R B W R (B AR #590,000,0007T) ©

B RBAEMRE RN S EIEARR R ERE

NEBEEER - WIRE ()R BB R O1T
(:REPRBEINDITEBA - (i) KingNine &£ [
ERFPBIEFIRISINB T HB L RIFIRMHER
RIHEAT - K2 (i) KingNine S Bl A 2 TS RIS M EETE ©



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED & RHY RIS EE R D ER A T
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 3R

—e

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEBNWRD

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Profit Guarantee (Continued)

The Directors are of the view that determination of the respective
Guaranteed Profit for each Guarantee Period is fair and
reasonable.

CHANGE IN FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION
CURRENCIES

Prior to October 2020, the Company regarded Hong Kong dollar
("HK$") as the functional currency. Upon the completion of the
acquisition of the KingNine Group in October 2010, whose
functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB"), the Directors consider
that the primary economic environment has been substantially
changed. Since then, the Company’s primary source of revenue,
that is, dividend, is derived from the operation of KingNine Group
operating in the PRC. As such, it is more appropriate to use RMB
as the functional currency of the Company. Accordingly, the
Company has determined the change of the functional and
presentation currencies from HK$ to RMB starting from 1 October
2020.

Such change of functional currency from HK$ to RMB will help to
minimise the impact of exchange gain/loss on the business results
of the Group from the fluctuations of RMB. As a result, the
consolidated financial statements for the reporting period are
presented in RMB, whereas the comparative figures for the prior
reporting period have been restated to align with the change in
presentation currency. The change in the presentation currency
and translation of the comparative amounts from HK$ to RMB has
had no material impact to the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The KingNine Group posted revenue of approximately RMB506.1
million for the Year, representing a year-on-year increase of
17.8%. Revenue from its back-office service after the Completion
amounted to approximately RMB255.6 million, accounting for
96.0% of the total revenue of the Group.

The Dalian Kingwisoft Group has won the favour of leading
companies in many industries, such as Internet mobility, Internet
education, e-commerce, finance & securities, and operators over
the years, and has become a long-term, reliable business partner
of many renowned companies. Its customer base remains stable
and is expanding. The top ten customers basically remained stable
in the current year, except two emerging companies, of which
one is a leading domestic company engaged in insurance and
health service platform, the other China’s largest one-stop and
online life services provider. The top five groups of customers
comprise of the world’s largest technological platform for mobile
travel, the world’s largest third party platform engaged in online
and mobile business for brands and retailers, the largest
independent third party insurance platform in China, the largest
mobile communication service provider in Mainland China and the
largest one-stop and online life services provider in China, who
collectively contributed 69.8% of the Group’s revenue. In the
meantime, there were several newly-added customers in Internet
education, finance & securities, e-commerce, community group
buying and Internet manufacturing, which take the lead in their
respective industries, increasing the number of its customers from
90 as of 31 March 2020 to 125.

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 has had a
comprehensive and profound impact on global economic
development and social conditions. The customer service industry
in which the KingNine Group operates has also been hit to some
extent. Relying on its deep experience in software development,
information security and data centre operation and orderly
environmental management capability, the KingNine Group
worked closely with customers and complied with governments’
epidemic prevention and control requirements. It took some
positive and effective measures, including epidemic prevention
and control in the workplace, flexible working arrangements
(including working from home) and business interoperability in the
workplace, and no case was reported across the country. The
KingNine Group had been operating its business smoothly and
managed to achieve a net profit of approximately RMB95.0 million
in the Year, representing an increase of 45.6% compared to that
of the previous financial year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In addition to the restructuring of the board of directors and the board
of supervisors, Dalian Kingwisoft established a new subsidiary in
Mianyang and branches in Wuhe, Xi'an and Zhengzhou respectively in
the second half of the Year. Dalian Kingwisoft's five subsidiaries,
namely Kunshan Kingwisoft Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (&L
T EEERAR A7), Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet Technology
Co., Ltd.* (EIF2Z2HEERHE AR AR, Luzhou Kingwisoft Data
Services Co., Ltd.* (B/MNE&ERE BIERE B R A E]), Qingdao
Nanyou Information Technology Co., Ltd* (F &R EME ERMABR A
7)) (formerly known as Beijing Nanyou Information Technology Co.,
Ltd* (t R EE BRI R A F) and Dalian Kingwisoft Internet
Service Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* (KBS HmE BB IRISINEBRA
7)), have obtained value-added telecommunications business licenses.
Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (KRR B BHEREA
fR727]) has obtained the Approval Opinion on telecommunications
business. Due to the pandemic, the value-added telecommunications
business licenses of Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (K&
BIRE PR AR A 8]) and Qingdao Jinliang Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (S5 BRI ARAA) (formerly known as Qingdao
Kingwisoft Boshang Media Co., Ltd.* (5 && EEREE AR A R)
("Jinliang Technology") are still pending approval.

The KingNine Group received one patent for an invention and
obtained 21 new software copyrights in the Year, with
accumulated 134 software copyrights granted by the National
Copyright Administration of the PRC, as well as double software
certifications, namely software product certification and software
enterprise certification. In addition, the number of its self-operated
contact service centres rose from 12 to 13, and the number of
workstations rose to 6,693, representing an increase of 352 as
compared to that as of 31 March 2020.

In terms of corporate advisory business, the outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic has hit hard economic activities. The Group mainly
conducts business in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Some of
the Group's potential customers have delayed or suspended their
financing plans due to the pandemic, resulting in the Group’s loss
of some business opportunities. Revenue from corporate advisory
business for the Year was approximately HK$0.40 million
(approximately RMB0.355 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 97.4%.

*  for identification purpose only
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The Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB266.2 million
for the Year (2020: approximately RMB15.1 million), representing
1,663% increase as compared to that of last financial year. Such
significant increase was mainly attributable to the revenue
generated from the KingNine Group in the second half of the
Year after the Completion. The KingNine Group mainly provides
back-office services, comprehensive marketing services and data
centre services in the PRC.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services is as
follows:

REBNRAFEEHBRAL AR 266,200,000 7T
(20204F : #H9 AR#15,100,0007T) » 8 & B
FEHNN1,663% - BEAAREINEZRERUEE
FIEEKNERAFE FTEFKingNine EBFTEE
B FTEL o KingNine S B = ERF BRI HE &
BR7% ~ 2 & AR R BUEH O BRTS -

AEBEEZRBWANDIT -

20214 2020 %
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARBFT
(Restated)
(#2&E7)
Value-added telecommunication and related HEES MAEERE
services:
Back-office services % & BR%
— Provision of customer service solutions — RHBERERR TR 247,043 -
— Setting up of contact service systems and — BHBE R ES LD
centres 8,602 -
255,645 -
Comprehensive marketing services T = H RS 931 -
Data centre services BB RO R 7,792 -
264,368 -
Financial services: EEART
Corporate advisory services R RS 355 13,690
Loan interest income B B HBA 1,440 1,406
Total BET 266,163 15,096

During the Year, the Group incurred cost of services of
approximately RMB181.2 million (2020: Nil) which primarily
consisted of staff costs, subcontracting fees, rental expenses,
depreciation and amortisation. The gross profit margin attributable
to the KingNine Group after the Completion was approximately
31.5%.
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In addition, the Group incurred marketing, research and
development expenses of approximately RMB9.8 million (2020:
Nil) in aggregate during the Year. Such cost and expenses were
incurred for the business of the KingNine Group.

Net other income for the Year was approximately RMB35.2 million
(2020: approximately RMB43.8 million). The decrease in net other
income was mainly attributable to the absence of the fair value
gain on convertible loan receivable at fair value through profit and
loss (“FVTPL") and loss on deregistration of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB51.0 million and approximately RMB2.8
million, respectively recorded in last financial year as offset by the
net exchange gain of approximately RMB9.2 million (2020: net
exchange loss of approximately RMB14.3 million), the net fair
value gain on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately RMB2.2
million (2020: net fair value loss of approximately RMB2.9 million)
as well as the value-add tax refund and government grants and
subsidies of approximately RMB8.7 million (2020: Nil) in aggregate
were recognized during the Year.

Administrative expenses for the Year was approximately RMB65.8
million (2020: approximately RMB57.1 million). The major
expenses components were staff costs of approximately RMB28.5
million (2020: approximately RMB18.5 million), professional fees
of approximately RMB15.5 million (2020: approximately RMB28.1
million), amortisation of intangible assets of approximately
RMB8.2 million (2020: Nil) and depreciation of right-of-use assets
of approximately RMB4.4 million (2020: approximately RMB3.5
million). The increase was mainly attributable to the net effect of
the increases in staff costs and consolidation of the KingNine
Group's expenses as offset by the professional fees reduced due
to the Acquisition was completed during the Year.

During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of
approximately RMB6.4 million (2020: approximately RMBO0.2
million) which mainly consisted of interests on consideration
payable arising from the Acquisition and borrowings of the
KingNine Group.
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Results of the Group (Continued)

The Group's income tax expense for the Year was approximately
RMB10.9 million (2020: approximately RMBO0.17 million) which
mainly consisted of provision of PRC Enterprise Income Tax of
approximately RMB16.6 million (2020: approximately RMB1.9
million) and deferred tax credit of approximately RMB5.9 million
(2020: Nil).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately RMB26.2 million, compared to the profit of
approximately RMB1.4 million for the last financial year.

Basic earnings per share for the Year was approximately RMBO0.68
cent (2020: approximately RMBO0.04 cent), while diluted earnings
per share for the Year was the same as basic earnings per share of
approximately RMBO0.68 cent (2020: approximately RMBO0.04
cent).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s non-current assets was
approximately RMB845.4 million (2020: approximately RMB24.3
million). The increase was mainly due to recognition of goodwill
and intangible assets resulting from the Acquisition and
consolidation of the KingNine Group’s assets after the
Completion.

Net current assets as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
RMB401.6 million (2020: approximately RMB627.1 million). The
decrease was largely due to the net effect of the payment of
tranche | cash consideration of RMB140 million and settlement of
the closing fund of RMB250 million and payable of tranche Il cash
consideration of RMB70 million due on 31 July 2021 accounted
for the Acquisition and consolidation of the KingNine Group’s net
current assets.

Non-current liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was amounted to
approximately RMB231.4 million (2020: approximately RMB2.7
million) which included the payable of tranche Il to tranche V cash
consideration due in three installments of RMB70 million each on
31 July 2022, 31 July 2023 and 31 July 2024 respectively as well
as deferred tax liabilities and lease liabilities.

Net assets value of the Group as at 31 March 2021 increased
to approximately RMB1,015.6 million (2020: approximately
RMB648.6 million). The net assets value per share as at 31 March
2021 was approximately RMB24.25 cents (2020: approximately
RMB18.27 cents).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a current ratio of 3.4 and a
gearing ratio of 2.9% (2020: 37.2 and Nil, respectively). The
gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group’s bank
borrowings of approximately RMB29.0 million by the Group’s
equity of approximately RMB1,015.6 million. The Group’s
operation and investments were financed by internal resources,
bank borrowings and issue of new share capital during the Year
for the Acquisition.

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital structure

During the Year, the Company issued 638,022,754 shares as the
consideration shares for the Acquisition which were amounted to
approximately RMB366.1 million on the date of issuance. In
addition, as at 31 March 2021, the bank borrowings of the Group
was amounted to approximately RMB29.0 million which was for
normal operating purposes and due within one year.

Save for the above, there has been no material change in the
capital structure of the Company during the Year.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB999.9 million as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
approximately RMB648.6 million). This increase was mainly
attributable to the issue of new shares for the Acquisition, profit
recognised and the net movement in the translation reserve
during the Year.

Commitments

The Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's bank borrowings were secured
by certain assets of the Group (2020: Nil). Details of the Group’s
pledges of assets are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had 4,436 employees including
Directors (2020: 23 employees). Total staff cost (including
Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB150.0 million. Employees’ remuneration packages are decided
based on their job responsibilities, local market benchmarks and
industry trends. Employee discretionary bonus is distributable
according to the performance of the respective subsidiaries and
employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2020: Nil).

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

The Group will focus on premium corporate clients in the Internet
and finance sectors to diversify its categories of services and
strengthen our customers’ stickness, which in turn help the Group
to generate economics of scale and gain more market share.

The Group will look into our business development and consider
acquiring or investing in relevant assets which form synergistic
effects with our principal business as and when appropriate.
Through the acquisition and investment, the Group can expand its
services categories and premium customer base and strengthen
our capability in research and development, which in turn identify
and meet demands from customers in a view to raise our core
competitiveness and profitability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OUTLOOK B

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a huge impact on the global
economy and the Chinese economy was also hit to some extent.
However, the Chinese government has managed to control the
pandemic rapidly. China saw a V-shaped rebound in economic
development in 2020, becoming the only major economy
reporting positive growth. The country’s gross domestic product
("GDP") stood at RMB101.60 trillion in 2020, a year-on-year
growth of 2.3% at comparable prices. China’s GDP in the first
quarter contracted 6.8% quarter on quarter, while the figure in
the second, third and fourth quarters went up 3.2%, 4.9% and
6.5% respectively. The GDP reached RMB24.93 trillion in the first
quarter of 2021, representing a growth of 18.3% over the same
period of last year. Of course, this is related to the 6.8% year-on-
year decline in GDP in the first quarter of last year. China’s GDP in
the first quarter of 2021 still rose up to 10.3% compared with the
data recorded in the same period of 2019. That is to say the GDP
saw an average annual growth rate of about 5% over the two
years. With the continuous and effective control of the pandemic,
ongoing economic recovery and formation of a new development
pattern centred on “internal circulation”, consumption recovery is
expected to pick up speed. The industrial policy will focus on new
infrastructure, high-end manufacturing and big consumption, and
efforts are stepped up to prevent financial risks in key sectors.

As the KingNine Group's major customers are players in finance &
securities, operators and Internet industries, all these sectors will
recover quickly with the sustained economic recovery and the
gradual rise of new endogenous driving forces. Meanwhile, the
pandemic’s profound impact on people’s education, mobility,
shopping and so forth will further boost the vigorous development
of Internet companies, which is expected to bring more
opportunities for rapid growth for the KingNine Group.

In this context, the KingNine Group will keep a close eye on macro
policy’s effect on its customers’ business, maintain close
communication with customers, and take diversified actions to
actively respond. Moreover, efforts will be made to actively explore
and seek for new business opportunities in the finance, Internet
live streaming and e-commerce fields, seize business development
opportunities and continuously increase its footprints in China in
an effective manner, so as to create more stable revenue and
profitability to the Group and enhance shareholder value.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

The KingNine Group keeps refining and expanding its Back-office
services. Its orders from the existing customer increased
consistently with the growth of their businesses, and it has also
obtaining new orders from traditional finance sectors and new
leaders of Internet companies, among which China‘s leading
e-commerce platform for life services and a worldly-renowned
information technology company have become our customers and
we have proceeded to new businesses orderly. The KingNine
Group will continue to push for bidding and completion of
projects to generate revenue and profit.

As for E-marketing, KingNine Group is accumulating knowledge
and preparing for live streaming e-commerce and living streaming
training by combining its existing capability in Internet marketing
and promoting with relevant experience to create a new
momentum driving the KingNine Group to grow in B2B corporate
services and live streaming e-commerce. As for streaming
allocation, we are gradually achieving our goal on monthly basis
and making progress.

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 7 May
2021, the Group has carried out platform certification business
and new media advertising business through Jinliang Technology.
It is expected to provide the Group with more diversified income.

Jinliang Technology and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
providing comprehensive and indepth operation services in
expanding customer base for clients in finance sectors, and
providing integrated media services including “ media agency
operations”, “information streaming” and “financial professionals
incubating and operation services” for financial customers (such
as securities companies, credit, insurance, futures, bankers, funds,
investment advisers), in a view to cater for needs of brands
publicity, customer acquisition in marketing, internal streaming
incubating and external streaming cooperation. With our
experience in operating Internet streaming and our customer
resources in finance sectors, we can provide vertical and indepth
services in every finance sectors and build a standardised SOP
operating system with core competitiveness in each of business
segments while establishing a solid and united team for business
operation and a strong TOB service team for the Internet sectors.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

At the same time, taking into account the performance of the
corporate advisory business for the Year, the Group plans to focus
on businesses with more optimistic prospects, and considers
optimising the asset structure and disposing of non-core
businesses.

APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank the
management members of the Board and all employees of the
Group for their efforts and contributions to the promotion of the
development of the Group in the past year. We also extend our
sincere thanks to our Shareholders and partners for their
continued support and trust. At the same time, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude for the valuable advice, guidance and
support provided by other relevant organizations.

By Order of the Board

JIANG Yulin
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 June 2021
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NIU Zhanbin, aged 46, joined the Group in August 2019, is
an executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and the member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He also holds several directorships in
certain other subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Niu is also a chief
operating officer of Zhongzhi Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. Zhongzhi
Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. is a company directly or indirectly held
as to 76% by Mr. Xie Zhikun. Mr. Xie Zhikun is the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Niu worked in the Office of the Cyberspace Administration of
China (BIR BBt 4815 S A=) from 2014 to 2017. He worked
in China Internet Network Information Centre (7R B & B 484512 &,
F 05 ) from December 2017 to July 2019. He had participated in a
number of major research projects and has extensive management
experience in the fields including network infrastructure,
information and communication technology, digital economy and
fund investment in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). Mr.
Niu has been paying close attention to the development of the
internet industry in the PRC for a long time and has a thorough
thought on the development prospect of the industry. He has
established good relationships with well-known experts and
scholars, famous internet companies and major news media. Mr.
Niu obtained a bachelor of laws degree from Renmin University of
China in 1996 and a master of laws degree from China University
of Political Science and Law in 2012.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Jiang Yulin, aged 62, appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company in March 2020.

Mr. Jiang is currently the independent non-executive director,
chairman of nomination committee and member of remuneration
and evaluation committee of Haitong UniTrust International
Leasing Co., Ltd. (a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 01905).
He is also the independent director of Anhui Zhonghuan
Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300692). Mr. Jiang
served as executive director, chairman of the board and member
of nomination committee of China Tian Yuan Healthcare Group
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
00577) from August 2016 to March 2020. Mr. Jiang has over 30
years of banking experience and has extensive experience in
financing, investment and management. Mr. Jiang had worked for
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC") for
more than 30 years from 1985 to 2016. Since 2015, Mr. Jiang
was the board chairman of ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ICBC, and held concurrent posts as
the board chairman of ICBC (Moscow) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of ICBC, and a non-executive director, chairman of risk
management committee and member of the audit committee of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited. Mr. Jiang
had resigned with ICBC in 2016. From 2002 to 2005, he also
served as an independent supervisor of Maanshan Iron & Steel
Company Limited, one of the largest iron and steel producers and
marketers in the People’s Republic of China, which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600808) and the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00323). Mr. Jiang holds a doctorate degree
in Economics from Wuhan University. He is a registered
accountant and was qualified as a senior economist issued by the
Appraisal and Approval Committee for Professional and Technical
Competence of ICBC. Mr. Jiang has published several journals and
certain books in relation to the banking industry and risk
prevention.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. WU Hui, aged 38, joined the Group in November 2018 as
the chief operating officer and has been appointed as an executive
Director, the compliance officer, and an authorized representative
of the Company since August 2019. He is the legal representative
of RIYNFIEE T IREKREE TR BR A A (Asian Capital
(Qianhai) Investment Management Limited), a subsidiary of the
Company, and also holds several directorships in certain other
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wu has over 10 years of experience in internal control and
management of financial corporates. He has worked in 1B & 7
EIBATR A A] since 2016 and is currently holding the post of its
supervisor. He is also the supervisor of M FLEREIRGR A
A and AEFEABELEERBMRAA. He is also the director
of Kang Bank Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited and Tian Xi Capital
Company Limited, the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Mr. Wu obtained a master of management degree from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in 2008.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 67, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Markscheid is the chairman of Still Waters Green Technology
Limited, a UK based renewable energy developer. He currently
serves as an independent director of Fanhua Inc., Jinko Solar Inc.
and Xiaobai Maimai, Inc. Fanhua Inc. and Xiaobai Maimai Inc. are
listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ") while Jinko
Solar Inc. is listed on The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE"). Mr.
Markscheid also served as independent director of China
Integrated Energy Corporation (a company previously listed on
NASDAQ) and China Ming Yang Wind Power Group Limited (a
company previously listed on NYSE). He is also a trustee emeritus
of Princeton-in-Asia. From 1998-2006, Mr. Markscheid worked for
GE Capital (“GE"). During his time with GE, Mr. Markscheid led
GE’s business development activities in China and Asia Pacific,
primarily acquisitions and direct investments. Prior to GE, Mr.
Markscheid worked with the Boston Consulting Group throughout
Asia. He was a commercial banker for ten years in London,
Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and Beijing with Chase
Manhattan Bank and First National Bank of Chicago and has years
of professional experience in the financial services industries. Mr.
Markscheid obtained a bachelor of arts degree from Princeton
University in 1976, a master degree in international affairs from
Johns Hopkins University in 1980, and a master of degree in
business administration from Columbia University in 1991, where
he was class valedictorian.

Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 55, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

26

BAFHITES

Stephen MARKSCHEID 5 4 © 67 5% © 20164
6AMAXRER  BEARAIBYIENTES £
ERERZER(BERZET ) IRAEERZE

GKE -

Markscheid 5¢ 4 & 2% Bl 7] 8 4 8% )R B 35 7 Still
Waters Green Technology Limited )& £ & ° KR
RIEEZESMIERESR - &BEERIERAER A
ARNBBEERRAIZEVES - ZESRIERSE
B HBEERAAMITERESF ST ([
En]) ETmRE - M&ERERIERER AR AT
HBEHR G ([ 4R3ZFT]) £ AR ° Markscheid
%4 PR HET China Integrated Energy Corporation
(B RMiTER FTAR]) R EAGREEER
RAFRH(BAMAXMEMAR) 2BIES - KI5
REMETEA M ZEFEA © 1998 4 = 2006 F -
Markscheid % 4 F B 5% GE Capital ([GE]) = % 7£
A GE B EEGEEF R R T AR 2 EKH
BIIE TZRWEREREIRE - Markscheid %t
ERMAGERTE NS HHE TEAAAFT
1 o Markscheid 5t 4 & e 2 - Z INE ~ A4
BB R RERREERITERABRITRER
CMFE-—BERRITTF  TRemRBEEHES
Z FH T o Markscheid 70 £ 1976 F £ T Ak
A KEEE B LB KR 1980 FEHNHEL
SHTRZREBEBREBELTS0 - HIR 19916
WL ERERNEIHERBELEN - BRKA
BEEREK-

RETR%E 5555 P2016F7 AMAKRESR -
BEARRRBIIIERTES BEZEZEL  HM
ZECRIRBREEGZKE -



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED &R RIS EE R D AR A A
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 2

Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Zhang was the executive director of OP Financial Investments
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01140) and a partner of Oriental Patron Financial Group primarily
responsible for private equity investments. Mr. Zhang has over 14
years of experience in the operation and management of
commercial banking, during which he worked in the international
business department of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China Limited (“ICBC") with final position level as deputy general
manager of department, including 3 years in ICBC Almaty Branch,
where he was in charge of treasury, credit lending and office
operations. Moreover, Mr. Zhang has 12 years of investment
banking experience, served as executive director of ICEA Finance
Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC) and managing
director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings, responsible for
corporate finance and sales department respectively. He is also an
independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382) whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang holds a master
degree from Renmin University in Economics, a diploma of
Programme for Management Development of Harvard Business
School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in New
York.

Mr. ZENG Liang, aged 47, joined the Group in April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Zeng is a well-known Internet entrepreneur and angel
investor. He has extensive experience in strategic planning,
business development and operation management in industries
such as digital marketing, mobile Internet and artificial intelligence
applications. Mr. Zeng served as senior vice president of Kingdee
International Software Group Company Limited from 2003 to
2010. He worked for Microsoft as vice president of Greater China
Region from 2010 to 2013 and was responsible for the
development of government, education and medical industries in
the region. From 2013 to 2017, he held several executive positions
including vice president of Baidu Inc. and general manager of
Baidu Nuomi. Mr. Zeng obtained Master of Science both in
Management and in Engineering from Georgia Institute of
Technology in USA. In addition, he holds another Master of
Science in Engineering degree from Tsinghua University in Beijing.
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of back-office services (primarily provision of customer
service solutions), comprehensive marketing services and data
centre services, corporate advisory services, investment advisory
and asset management services, proprietary investments and
money lending.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance has been
covered in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section as
well as this Directors’ Report of this annual report. Risk disclosure
sections that follow hereafter should be read in conjunction with
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. These form part of this
directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Operational risk

While Dalian Kingwisoft is exposed to a certain level of
concentration risk of reliance on its key customers, a significant
portion of its revenue is derived from its five largest customers,
Dalian Kingwisoft will continue to explore new customers and
reduce the concentration risk.

The success of the Group depends on the experience, expertise
and the continuous services of its senior management. The Group
will try its best effort to retain its key management personnel,
competent employees or outsourcing staff by giving competitive
remunerations, and providing job satisfaction.

28

EEEMAREAEERANFREZEFRLELEZ
RAMB®mE -

FEXRK

ARBNEBEXBHRREER - ANBARER
REEREER - BRERERB (EEREHEFR
BRATER) - 2EEHERE MBEP ORY - &
¥ERRE REFDAUNEEEERYE  BF
EeRENER -

E 3 3C1) ]

AEERAFE 2 XHRBERIEEE R BED
MR 5 MR EFRNAFIR [ ERE T # Mo
—HARAEZEREN - U TRARKEZEE
BB TR 5w Mo AT | A MR & BA 7% R BT 5E 41
—BFBIE - ZRFHNBUAESTEREN —FD -

TERBRTABEEE
EEmRE

BEAESERAREE LTHARKBEEIERPHNE
R - ERARRK IO RELESRATS
RiEeBHEaERMME P AR EET R -

AEBNRDERNESRERENLR  BX
HBRBERYE - AEBFBEBETRRFIN
FHERERTIEAEE  E2NBRBETEEE
AB - BREINEEIINEET -



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED &R RIS EE R D AR A A
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 2

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
Operational risk (Continued)

The Group is obliged to keep all relevant data confidential subject
to the laws and regulations in its operating locations. The Group
has implemented strict internal control procedures to safeguard
the security and confidentiality of its databases to avoid and
reduce the possibility of any leakage of personal data or
unauthorized access to the Group’s database.

The Group's business is dependent on the performance of the
Internet and telecommunication networks in the PRC, the Group's
operational infrastructure and contact service centres may
experience unexpected interruption, inadequacy, breakdown or
failure, and may not have sufficient insurance coverage against
potential operational risks.

The Group's business, financial condition and results of operations
may be susceptible to fluctuations in the economic conditions of
the PRC, and the uncertainties in the global market conditions. For
example, the ongoing PRC and U.S. trade war has led to adverse
changes to U.S. and international trade policies, which could lead
to a further deterioration of global and the Chinese economy. Any
deterioration of global and the Chinese market could adversely
and materially affect the business of the Group’s customers and
could in turn materially and adversely affect the business, financial
condition and results of operations of the Group.

The outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 has already caused, and
may continue to cause, an adverse and prolonged impact on both
economic and social conditions in China, among other countries,
and the exacerbation, continuance or reoccurrence of COVID-19
may interrupt its business operations. In order to avoid and
manage this special condition, the Company has implemented
pertinent practices and arrangements to reduce the risk of being
infected.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
Business and associated risks

The Group faces the risks to obtain, renew or maintain certain
qualification certificates which could materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. In addition, the Group has achieved
many third-party certifications, there is no assurance that the
Group will be able to maintain all of these certifications or renew
them once they expire.

Intellectual property rights are important to the Group'’s business.
It relies on a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality
procedures and contractual provisions to protect its intellectual
property.

The Company understands the importance to manage such
licences, qualifications and intellectual property rights. The status
of these licences, qualifications and intellectual property rights are
reported in a monthly report to the senior management in order
to avoid and reduce the risk in this area.

Legal and compliance risks

The local governments may change the existing laws or regulations
or adopt additional or more stringent laws or regulations
applicable to the Group. Any changes to such laws and regulations
or their interpretation or enforcement may expose the Group to
the risk of non-compliance and may require it to conform its
activities and operations to comply with such laws and regulations.

Any material legal proceedings or disputes with business partners
may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

People may experience difficulty in effecting service of legal
process, enforcing foreign judgments or bringing original actions
in China or Hong Kong based on foreign laws against the Group
since the PRC’s legal system is still evolving and the uncertainties
as to the interpretation and enforcement of PRC laws.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
Legal and compliance risks (Continued)

The Regulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic
Companies by Foreign Investors M&A Rules (B IMNEII& & & Hf
BB R EMHET)) and certain other PRC regulations establish
complex procedures for some acquisitions of Chinese companies
by foreign investors, which could make it more difficult for the
Group to pursue growth through acquisitions in China.

The PRC tax authorities’ heightened scrutiny over acquisition
transactions may have a negative impact on the Group'’s business
operations or its acquisitions or the value of the investment in the
Group.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Please refer “Contractual Arrangements — Risks
Relating to the Contractual Arrangements” from pages 46 to 47
of this report for details.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) ¥(KEREE)

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations B <FHEEEFI KRR G

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of  BSFHHRDEGI MR HI I A EEEKE L ENEER -
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules, %I - 3R] - 5 0] R 3% B F| 60 & 8) 7] e 35 48
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose  ZNEE LB RS, c HhB1E - KEBRE

challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands, the United
States and The People’s Republic of China, as well as under the
GEM Listing Rules and the Securities Futures Ordinance, Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO"). ZZCF is a corporation
licensed under section 116 of the SFO for carrying on Type 1,4,6
and 9 regulated activities, and therefore subject to the
requirements of SFO and codes and guidelines issued by the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC").

Z7Cl Credit Limited holds a money lender’s licence and is subject
to the provisions of the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the laws of Hong Kong). To provide for the control and
regulation of money lenders and money lending transactions
mainly involves, the Commissioner of Police and Registrar of
Money Lenders. The Group has established and maintained
adequate policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has also
adopted a whistleblowing policy for reporting of wrong-doing
within the Group. The whistleblowing policy can be found in the
Group’s compliance manual which is regularly reviewed and
updated as and when necessary. The Group has assembled a team
of professionals with many years of experience and expertise in
legal, compliance and financial control in the financial industry.
With the right blend of talent, this team provides the Group with
the requisite level of quality assurance to ensure compliance with
all relevant laws and regulations, and to minimize the Group'’s risk
exposure as it embarks on new business initiatives in relation to
money lending business.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a remuneration
structure which is a key for the Group to attract and retain the
best talents. Details of emolument policy and employee benefits
are set out in the section headed “Employees and remuneration
policies” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. There have been no material interruptions to
operations nor any material labour disputes to date. In addition,
the Group encourages and supports employees to attend courses,
seminars and workshops that are relevant to their jobs to obtain
up-skills so as to keep them challenged and engaged as well as
assist the Group’s sustainable business success.

In particular to the COVID-19 virus situation, the Group has also
implemented special arrangement including some special
allowance and practices for the protection of employees’ health
and safety.

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.

33

¥ OREE 2

BES FF HEBREMANZHEE
ENERBER

AEBECHIES BEEFHMAER  EEAKERS
KRB AT OG- HMB R R IEB BN EFE
HRAFREEENWEON BT BB RH
ERER ] —8 ° 525 BLE » ARRRLERTEH 2
B R BERERSEMS © I AEETR

NTIEY - ME TERSEFHREE  RIFMHMA
HBLF S - (e B N BRI ERBAY

HE2019BRBEZHANBER - AEBIFERR T 5
R (B 1R — LLAFBRORRE G IE) - MRIERE
MREMZE o

AEBEEZP HREA - HEKEE LR
BEREARRENRAR BEAKEEXNE
=g QAEE - BBEHREMERAFAS K
SEREREANTERHERERROBE - ERK
RA—EHEEEFRRERI BRI BEEIR -
R R 2BBRIRONE - B ARTNKD)



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED & RHZ RIEEER D ERE A 7
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 3R

Directors’ Report
EEERE

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 97 to 223 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.

Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 9 August 2021 to Wednesday, 11 August 2021 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to
attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 6 August 2021.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately RMB840.1
million (31 March 2020: RMB471.9 million (restated)). Details of
the Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 March 2021 are set
out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairman)

Mr. JJANG Yulin (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. WU Hui (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. FU Chi King Johnson (resignation effective on 29 April 2020)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZENG Liang (appointed on 30 April 2021)

Mr. ZHANG Longgen (resignation effective on 30 April 2021)

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 23 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS EEEREE
Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, change in  #B#5 GEM FT3R RIS 17.50A(1 & - EEEREE
information of Directors are set out below: HI) WO -

Name of Director

ESnS

Details of change

BEFE

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Stephen MARKSCHEID %t 4 202067 A%

Appointed as chairman of Still Waters Green Technology Limited in July 2020
Z {X /5 Still Waters Green Technology Limited 2 = &

Resigned as independent director of Ener-Core Inc in March 2020

MR 20204 3 A&t{EEner-Core IncZ B &%

Ceased to be a venture partner at DealGlobe, a Shanghai based boutique

investment bank since 2019

B 2019 F £ T B & DealGlobe (—fi]_ LB/ NURERTT) 2 BBH

Appointed as independent director of Xiaobai Maimai Inc., a company listed on

NASDAQ, in 2017

K207 FEZERNBEERAR (—HMENER LHAR) ZBYES

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
directors of the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by the Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of shares capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:

Long positions in share of the Company

FERRRAEQFRMD REERADF

MR RRE

MB2021F3A31H BESFAM - THAL(R
NAIEBRRETTHABBRIN AR RN kA8
BARMDT AR AREBEREESFRPER
BIZEXVEFEE 2 R 38 3 0 BB S A AN B4 55 o /B
REBEARRRIRERS LB EKRAEI36IGKAET
UGEENELMOERIAR  KEEHEEE
BTSRRI ATREBR TEAEBERKE R
ANBREANE EREMEAER R AEENS%

A EfES

RAEXTRBHEFE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
LERANE]
IREMBA
RREHE 54 FrRH A Bol
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Beneficial owner 2,409,823,718 57.53%
Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company EmBBA
Limited ([ Zhongzhi Xinzhuo]) (ff7% 1)
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 10.88%
(“Kang Bang (HK)") (Note 1)
BEHEE(FB)BERAA BEHEAA
(TE (&) (1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation  2,865,644,243 68.41%
("Tian Xi Capital”) (Note 1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited ZESEENER
([Tian Xi Capital |) (Af7£ 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 68.41%

("Ze Yun Capital”) (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited
([Ze Yun Capital ) (Kfa£ 1)

REHAE S
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

FERRAARD RS RAEBER G T
HEZRARE &)

(Continued)
Long positions in share of the Company (Continved) RAQATRMBHITFE (&)
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
P NN
PR RE VAL A0
BREERE g1 FERAEE Bok
Mr. XIE Zhikun (“Mr. Xie") (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 68.41%
FRERSAE ([RRTED (M) ZEESEE RS
NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGO") (Note 2) Beneficial Owner 274,190,219 6.55%
NINEGO Corporation ([NINEGO J) (A&t 2) EnlBA
Mr. Hu Shilong (“Mr. Hu") (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 274,190,219 6.55%
pREER A (THRSE A D) (FTiE 2) ZEESEE RS
Ms. Liu Yingying (“Ms. Liu") (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 274,190,219 6.55%

Bleggw+ (181t ])(Hi72)
Notes:

1. Each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian Xi Capital. Ze Yun Capital, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Xie, controls 100% of the voting power at general meetings of Tian Xi
Capital. As such, each of Tian Xi Capital, Ze Yun Capital and Mr. Xie is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the
Company held by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the
SFO.

2. NINEGO is held by Mr. Hu as to 40.60% and Ms. Liu as to 59.40%. As
such, Mr. Hu and Ms. Liu are deemed to be interested in 274,190,219
shares of the Company held by NINEGO by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries or
its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of such ultimate
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen who were in service during
the Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
These written confirmations also covered the immediate family
members (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all
of them independent.
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The transactions contemplated under the series of contractual #INEEBENE KESZHEAMHEELE - QLL

arrangements entered into by, among others, WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft, and Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying, Ms. Zhou Fang
and Changzhou Xiangjia Zhongzhou Investment Centre Limited
Partnership* (B MAZF AR ER L (HRAEE)) (the “Registered
Shareholders”) on 12 June 2020 (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) are non-exempt continuing connected
transactions, which are subject to reporting, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and in
particular the definition of “connected person”, the entities we
control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely, Dalian
Kingwisoft, Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.* (A #B<
ERMEHEIRIE AR A7), Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (ME2ZEmEBEABERAF]), Kunshan Kingwisoft
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (B4 Z{Z BRI AR A R),
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (24114 St BRI AR
/2a)), Luzhou Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.* (E/H & Z g%
HIERE AR A R]), Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet Technology
Co., Ltd.* (B2 E0HERFE AR AF]), Qingdao Nanyou
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (5 &m &z B RKMARAH],
formerly known as It RE#{Z 2 FMT AR A7), DaLian
Kingwisoft Internet Service Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* (RESZ RIS
PBEs RS IMB AR A B)), Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan Internet
Service Co., Ltd.* (4#3[5 & 2R BB AAREER 2 7)) and Dalian
Zhiyin Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (KiE%5 IR BB AR BR A
Al), (collectively, the “Consolidated Affiliated Entities”), are
treated as the Company'’s subsidiaries, and their directors, chief
executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) and their respective associates are treated as the
Company’s connected persons.

*  for identification purpose only
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements AV EHNRHNER
As advised by the PRC legal advisor, in accordance with the Handr B EZER S A - BiIES HE SRR

Telecommunication Regulations of the PRC ({ A R K FEE
{Z1&51)) promulgated on 25 September 2000, and most recently
amended on 6 February 2016, by the State Council of the PRC (the
“Telecommunication Regulations”), a service provider is required
to obtain a value-added telecommunication business operating
license ((IZ{EEZEKL LT A7) ("VATS Licence”) from the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (the
“MIIT”) or its authorised local counterpart before commencing the
provision of value-added telecommunication services (“VAT
Services”). Further, under the Catalogue of Telecommunication
Business ( & 15 ¥ 7% /5 8 B £%)) promulgated on 28 December
2015, and most recently amended on 6 June 2019, by MIIT (the
“Telecommunication Catalogue”), call centre services is a type of
VAT Services, thus any provider of call centre services in China is
required to obtain a VATS Licence before commencing its
operation.

In accordance with the Telecommunication Catalogue:

(i)  call centre services mean business consultation, information
consultation and data query services regarding an entity for
the end-users of such entity through public communication
network by: (a) utilising call centre system which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet;
(b) utilising database technology; and (c) establishing
information base through information collection, processing
and storage;

(i) users of call centre services may: (a) enter into a call centre
system and gain access to the database of the call centre
system through multiple channels such as telephone, fax,
mobile communication terminals and computer terminals;
and (b) receive information consultation services by multiple
means such as voice, fax, email and text messages; and

(iii)  call centre services also include leasing of call centre system
and workstations of call centre operators.
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

Furthermore, under the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunication Enterprises ( (/MEREElE
EEIEIETFE) ) promulgated on 11 December 2001, and most
recently amended on 6 February 2016, by the State Council (the
"FITE Regulations”) and the Administrative Measures for
Telecommunication Business Operating Permit ( { E{ZEMK4E &5
AIEEHEE) ) promulgated on 3 July 2017 by MIIT (the
“Telecommunication Measures”):

(i)  the establishment of a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of any VAT
Services in China must be approved by the MIIT or its
authorised local counterparts;

(i) the holder of a VATS Licence is required to obtain the
approval of the MIIT and/or its authorised local counterparts
if there is any change to the shareholders of such holder;
and

(i) the main foreign investor in a foreign-invested
telecommunication enterprise which engages in the
provision of VAT Services must satisfy the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, including, a proven track record of
good performance, and operating experience, in carrying on
value-added telecommunication business.

As advised by the PRC legal advisor, the business operated by the
DalLian Kingwisoft Group (the “DaLian Kingwisoft Business”),
comprising the back-office services (primarily provision of
customer service solutions and setting up of contact service system
and centres), can be further categorised into:

0) business consultation, information consultation and data
query services on behalf of an entity for the customers of
such entity (such as general enquiry hotlines, customer
service hotlines, post-sale follow-up services and customer
satisfaction surveys) by utilising call centre system (which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet)
and/or database technology (the “Contact Services”);
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)

(i) information processing, business consultation and other
customised business process outsourcing services on behalf
of an entity for the customers of such entity (such as order
processing, audio and video review and image processing)
by utilising call centre system (which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet) and/or database
technology (the “Call Center-related BPO Services”); and

(i) designing, installing, testing and trial-testing contact service
systems and centres which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet for an entity, and
providing software and hardware support for such contact
service system and centres, in each case with a view to, or in
connection with, providing Contact Services on behalf of
such entity for the customers of such entity (the “Contact
Service System and Centres Set-up Services”).

As each of the Contact Services, the Call Center-related BPO
Services and the Contact Service System and Centres Set-up
Services involves the provision of services by the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group on behalf of an entity for the customers of such entity
through public communication network by:

(i) utilising call centre system which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet;

(i) utilising database technology; and

(i) establishing information base through information
collection, processing and storage,

the provision of the DaLian Kingwisoft Business by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group constitutes the provision of call centre services,
one type of VAT Services, by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group.
Therefore, in accordance with the Telecommunication Regulations,
the DaLian Kingwisoft Group is required to hold VATS Licences in
order to operate the DaLian Kingwisoft Business.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of our
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Qualification Requirements

In addition to restrictions on foreign ownership, there are also
regulatory requirements on the experience and operations of a
foreign investor who intends to operate a value-added
telecommunications business in the PRC.

According to the FITE Regulations, a foreign investor who invests
in VAT Services business in the PRC must possess the Qualification
Requirement of VATS. The PRC legal advisor has advised that, as
at the date of this report, (i) the above-mentioned guidance
memorandum issued by MIIT had no legal or regulatory effect
under the PRC Laws, (i) no applicable PRC Laws, regulations or
rules provides clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, and (iii) the MIIT retains considerable
discretion in determining whether a foreign investor has satisfied
the Qualification Requirement of VATS and in granting approval
of applications for establishing foreign-invested value-added
telecommunications enterprises.

Effects and Actions Under Taken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements

Despite the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS, the Group has been gradually
building up the track record of overseas VAT Services operations
by undertaking the following steps:

(i) As at the date of this report, the Group has been rewarded
through its cooperation with its international partners, and
commenced working on, certain projects to provide offshore
customer support services in foreign languages, including
Japanese and English. The Group plans to continue
expanding its offshore customer support services business
involving foreign languages in overseas markets;

(i) The Group is strengthening its close cooperation relationship
with its international partners, such as SoftBank, with the
aim of gradually exploring business opportunities and
developing its customer base overseas. The Group also plans
to build up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operation by obtaining overseas projects through
collaboration between its onshore and offshore entities; and
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Effects and Actions Under Taken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements (Continued)

(i) It is the Group's strategy to identify suitable offshore
companies with proper value-added telecommunications
services operation and acquire a controlling stake in such
companies in future, in order to build up its track record of
overseas VAT Services operation.

We will continue to actively manage the operation of the Group
and procure the Group to continue carrying out the above steps
for the purpose of being qualified, as early as possible, to acquire
the entire shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft when the relevant
PRC Laws and authorities allow foreign investors to invest and
hold interest in enterprises which engage in VAT Services.

In addition, the Group has taken the following steps with a view
to gradually building up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operations, demonstrating compliance with the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, and being qualified, as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest in the registered capital of DaLian
Kingwisoft when there is clear guidance and interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS under applicable PRC Laws,
regulations and rules and when, as a matter of regulatory policy
and practice, the MIIT and its authorised local counterparts will
accept and approve applications by the members of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group which engage in the provision of VAT Services
to be converted into foreign invested telecommunication
enterprises which engage in the provision of VAT Services:

(i)  the Group is in the process of registering trademarks outside
the PRC for the purpose of promoting VAT Services
operations outside the PRC;

(i)  the Group has registered one domain name outside the PRC
for the purpose of introducing VAT Services operations
outside the PRC to users outside the PRC; and

(i)  the Group has obtained a local phone number in Hong
Kong for the purpose of promoting VAT Services operations
outside the PRC.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Effects and Actions Under Taken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements (Continued)

Based on the foregoing and the MIIT Consultation, the PRC legal
advisor is of the view that, subject to the discretion of the
competent authority in determining whether the Qualification
Requirement of VATS is fulfilled, the above steps taken by the
Group and the Group are reasonable and appropriate steps for
the purpose of demonstrating compliance with the Qualification
Requirement of VATS.

We will, under the guidance of the PRC legal advisor, make
periodic enquiries with the relevant PRC governmental authorities
to understand whether there is any new regulatory development
and to assess whether the Company and the Group have built up
sufficient track record of overseas VAT Services operations to
satisfy the Qualification Requirement of VATS. We will also, as and
when appropriate, disclose the progress of our efforts and actions
taken to comply with the Qualification Requirement of VATS in
the Company’s annual and interim reports to inform the
Shareholders and other investors.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
160 to 167 of the Circular.

o Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect
to the interpretation and application of PRC laws and
regulations relating to the provision of contact services in
China.

o We rely on Contractual Arrangements with the DalLian
Kingwisoft Group and its shareholders for its business
operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

o Any failure by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements would have a material adverse
effect on our business, and the domestic shareholder may
have potential conflicts of interest with us.
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Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements
(Continued)
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o Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed,
which could negatively affect our financial condition and the

value of the investment.

We conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business in the PRC
through the Dalian Kingwisoft Group by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
PRC laws.

We may not be able to meet the Qualification Requirement
of VATS.

Our exercise of the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group may subject to
certain limitation and we may need to expend significant
resources to acquire all or part of the equity interests in the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group from the respective equity holders.

The WFOE may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group that are material to the
operation of certain portions of its business if the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group goes bankrupt or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the recently passed
PRC Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements in Place

A brief description of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the Year is as follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement was entered into
between the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020,
pursuant to which DaLian Kingwisoft agrees to engage the WFOE
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including technical services, network support,
business consultation, intellectual property licensing, equipment
leasing, market consultancy, system integration, product research
and development and system maintenance, in exchange for
service fees. Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the service fees, subject to the WFOE's adjustment, are equal to
the net profit of DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. The WFOE
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, after taking into
account certain factors, including but not limited to the deduction
of necessary costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contribution for the corresponding fiscal year, and may also
include accumulated losses of Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries from previous financial periods. The service fees shall
be transferred to the designated account of the WFOE upon
issuance of payment notification by the WFOE. The WFOE enjoys
the entire economic benefits derived from the businesses of
DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries, and bears relevant risks of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. If DaLian Kingwisoft runs
into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, the
WFOE will provide financial support to DaLian Kingwisoft.

In line with the services it provides, the WFOE has employed
relevant personnel primarily providing consulting and technical
services to Dalian Kingwisoft. In addition, the WFOE’s primary
operating assets will be IT facilities, network and equipment,
which support its provision of services to Dalian Kingwisoft under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. The WFOE and its
subsidiaries also engage in comprehensive marketing services and
data centre services businesses.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements in Place (Continued)
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement (Continued)

Both the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft have internal control
measures in place, which mainly include measures with respect to
accounts payables and receivables, which require the review and
approval by the relevant department(s) of the WFOE and DalLian
Kingwisoft to confirm the services provided by the WFOE and
received by Dalian Kingwisoft. Further, to ensure that the WFOE
will not engage in the Dalian Kingwisoft Business or any other
restricted business in the PRC, the WFOE has set up an internal
control procedure, which requires the senior staff member of
relevant departments to review the business to be entered into by
the WFOE.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal
course of business of Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
WFOE will have the exclusive and proprietary rights to all
intellectual properties developed by Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries, given that the WFOE provides consultation services to
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. Part of the economic
benefits generated by Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries will
be intellectual properties developed or created during the normal
business operation of DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Though it is not intended to transfer any existing intellectual
property rights held by Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft is required under the Contractual Arrangements to
obtain the WFOE's prior written consent before it transfers,
assigns or disposes of any of the intellectual properties to any third
party.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is for an initial

term of ten years and shall be automatically extended upon expiry
unless the WFOE confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements in Place (Continued)
Exclusive Call Option Agreement

The Exclusive Call Option Agreement was entered into by and
among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and Dalian
Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020, pursuant to which the WFOE (or
KingNine Holdings Limited or any subsidiary of KingNine Holdings
Limited , the “designee”) has been granted an irrevocable and
exclusive right to purchase all of the shares in and/or assets of
DaLian Kingwisoft at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC Laws request that another
amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC Laws and regulations, the Registered Shareholders
and/or Dalian Kingwisoft shall return any amount of purchase
price they have received to the WFOE. At the WFOE's request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or DaLian Kingwisoft will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective shareholding in and/
or the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE (or its
designee) after the WFOE exercises its call option. The Exclusive
Call Option Agreement is for an initial term of ten years and shall
be automatically extended upon expiry unless the WFOE confirms
a new renewal term in writing.

In order to prevent the flow of the relevant assets and value of
DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries to the Registered
Shareholders, during the term of the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement, Dalian Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any of its assets (exceeding the value of RMB1 million) without
the prior written consent of the WFOE. In addition, Dalian
Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure its subsidiaries not
to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without prior
written consent of the WFOE. In the event that the Registered
Shareholders receive any distribution from Dalian Kingwisoft and/
or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC Laws, the Registered
Shareholders must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
the WFOE (or its designee). If the WFOE exercises the call option
all or any part of the shareholding in and/or assets of Dalian
Kingwisoft acquired would be transferred to the WFOE, and the
benefits of the equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable,
would flow to KingNine Holdings Limited and its shareholders.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements in Place (Continued)
Exclusive Call Option Agreement (Continued)

As provided in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE, Dalian Kingwisoft shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, among other things, (i)
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner any of its assets
of more than RMB1 million; (ii) execute any material contract for a
value more than RMB1 million, except any contracts in the
ordinary course of business and any contracts entered into with
any members of the Group; (iii) provide any loan, financial
support, pledge or guarantees in any form to any third party, or
allow any third party to create any pledge or other security interest
over its assets or equity; (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow any
debt that is not incurred in the ordinary course of business of
Dalian Kingwisoft or not disclosed and consented to by the
WFOE; (v) enter into any consolidation or merger with any third
party, or acquire or invest in any third party; (vi) increase or reduce
its registered capital, or alter the structure of the registered capital
in any other manner. The Exclusive Call Option Agreement
provides that the Registered Shareholders and Dalian Kingwisoft
shall procure the subsidiaries of DaLian Kingwisoft to comply with
the above undertakings as if they are parties to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement. Therefore, due to the relevant restrictive
provisions in the agreement, the potential adverse effect on the
WFOE and the Group in the event of any loss suffered from
Dalian Kingwisoft and/or its subsidiaries can be limited to a
certain extent. In addition, in relation to the above restrictive
provisions specified in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the
asset disposals or value of contracts will be aggregated if such
asset disposals or value of contracts (i) are entered into by
KingNine Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries or the DalLian
Kingwisoft Group with the same party or parties; or (ii) involve the
disposal or contracts which relate to the whole or parts of the
asset or securities or interests in a company or group of
companies. Further, as advised by the PRC legal advisor, any
transfer of shares in DaLian Kingwisoft pursuant to the terms of
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement will need to be filed with
relevant government authorities upon the exercise of the call
option thereunder.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements in Place (Continued)
Share Pledge Agreement

The Share Pledge Agreement was entered into by and among the
WEFOQE, the Registered Shareholders and DaLian Kingwisoft on 12
June 2020, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders pledge as
first charge all of their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft
to the WFOE as collateral security for any or all of the payments due
to the WFOE and to secure performance of their obligations under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement. The Share
Pledge Agreement will remain in effect till the earlier of (i) all
obligation of DaLian Kingwisoft and the Registered Shareholders
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement are
performed in full; (ii) the WFOE exercises its exclusive option to
purchase the entire shareholding held by the Registered Shareholders
in DaLian Kingwisoft and/or the assets of DaLian Kingwisoft pursuant
to the terms of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement when it is
permitted to do so under the applicable PRC Laws; (iii) the WFOE
exercises its unilateral and unconditional right of termination; and (iv)
the agreement is required to be terminated in accordance with
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. In addition, under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement, none of the Registered Shareholders may
transfer or create any encumbrance on any of their shareholding in
and the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft (including any equity
interests in and relevant assets of the subsidiaries of DaLian
Kingwisoft) without the WFOE's prior written consent. Furthermore,
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the WFOE is
entitled to retain and exercise physical control of company seals and
certificates that are crucial to the daily operation of Dalian
Kingwisoft, which further strengthens the protection of the WFOE's
interests over Dalian Kingwisoft under the Contractual
Arrangements. Should an event of default (as provided in the Share
Pledge Agreement) occur, unless it is successfully resolved to the
WFOE's satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by the WFOE,
the WFOE may demand that the Registered Shareholders and/or
Dalian Kingwisoft immediately pay all outstanding payments due
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, repay any
loans and make all other payments due to it, and/or dispose of the
pledged shareholding and use the proceeds to repay any outstanding
amount due to the WFOE. The pledges under the Share Pledge
Agreement has been duly registered with the relevant PRC authority
on 12 July 2020 pursuant to PRC Laws and regulations.
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On 16 October 2020, the Registered Shareholders entered into a 42020 10 A 16 B + B E R BB E 3

capital increase agreement pursuant to which the registered
capital of DaLian Kingwisoft was increased from RMB15,480,000
to RMB100,000,000 contributing from each of the Registered
Shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings (the “Capital
Increase”). Upon the issuance of the 84,520,000 new shares (the
“New Shares”) to the Registered Shareholders and the successful
registration of the Capital Increase, the New Shares will be fully
pledged by the Registered Shareholders as first charge of all of
their respective shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft to the WFOE as
collateral security for any or all of the payments due to the WFOE
and to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement under the existing
terms of the Share Pledge Agreement.

Power of Attorney

The irrevocable Powers of Attorney have been granted by each of
the Registered Shareholders on 12 June 2020 in favour of the
WFOE pursuant to the Authorisation Agreement dated 12 June
2020 by and among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholder and
DalLian Kingwisoft, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed the WFOE or a director of its offshore holding
company or its/his/her successor (including a liquidator replacing
the WFOE's director) as their exclusive agent and attorney to act
on their behalf on all matters concerning Dalian Kingwisoft and
to exercise all of their rights as registered shareholders of Dalian
Kingwisoft. These rights include (i) the right to propose, convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings; (i) the right to sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of shares; (iii) the right to exercise shareholders’
voting rights; and (iv) the right to act as the legal representative
(chairperson), the director, supervisor, the chief executive officer
(or general manager) and other senior management members of
Dalian Kingwisoft. The authorised person is entitled to sign
minutes, file documents with the relevant companies registry and
exercise voting rights on the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft on
behalf of the Registered Shareholders. The Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to transfer all assets obtained by
them after the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE at
nil consideration or the lowest price permissible by the then
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. As a result of the Powers of
Attorney, the Company is able to exercise management control
over the activities that have significant impact on the economic
performance of DalLian Kingwisoft.
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Power of Attorney (Continued) REEZ(E)
The Powers of Attorney also provided that, in order to avoid RIEZENRTE @ /E R EENRER  WELK

potential conflicts of interest, where the Registered Shareholders
are officers or directors of KingNine, its subsidiaries or the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favour of
other unrelated officers or directors of KingNine (the unrelated
directors of the holding company of KingNine).

The Powers of Attorney shall automatically terminate once the
WFOE (or any member of the Group other than Dalian Kingwisoft
and its subsidiaries) directly holds the entire shareholding in and/
or the entire assets of DaLian Kingwisoft permitted under the then
PRC Laws and regulations and the WFOE (or its subsidiaries) is
allowed to conduct the DaLian Kingwisoft Business under the then
PRC Laws and regulations, following which the WFOE is registered
as the sole shareholder of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Spouse Undertaking

Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying and the spouse of Ms. Zhou
Fang executed an irrevocable undertaking on 12 June 2020,
whereby they expressly and irrevocably acknowledge and
undertake that (i) any shareholding interest held by Mr. Hu, Ms.
Liu and Ms. Zhou in DaLian Kingwisoft do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) they will not have any claim on
the interests of Dalian Kingwisoft obtained through the
Contractual Arrangements in their capacity as spouse; (iii), in
relation to Ms. Zhou's spouse, he has never participated and will
not participate in the operation or management of Dalian
Kingwisoft.
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Contractual Arrangements in Place (Continued)

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Circular.

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the Year.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the
Year.

For the Year, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has
been removed. As of 31 March 2021, we had not encountered
interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in
operating our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities under the Contractual Arrangements.

We have been advised by our PRC legal advisor that the
Contractual Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC laws
and regulations.

From the Completion date to 31 March 2021, revenue of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities was amounted to approximately
RMB246.7 million, which accounted for approximately 92.7% of
the Group’s total revenue. The net assets of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities were approximately RMB326.2 million as at 31
March 2021.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Internal Control Measures

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation of our Group with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year,

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our
annual reports regarding the qualification requirements as
stipulated in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements
— Qualification Requirement of VATS” in the Circular;

4. our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our
annual reports; and

5. our Company has engaged external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOE and
our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Extent to which the Contractual
Arrangements Relate to Requirements Other
than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 298 to 304 of the Circular.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) under the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements were more than 5%. As
such, these transactions were subject to the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from (i)
fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements for a period of
not exceeding three years pursuant to Rule 20.50 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and (ii) setting a maximum aggregate annual cap
pursuant to Rule 20.51 of the GEM Listing Rules for the service
fees payable by the Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE under the
Contractual Arrangements, subject to the following conditions:

(@  No Change without Independent Non-executive Directors’
Approval — No change to the Contractual Arrangements
(including with respect to any fees payable to the WFOE
thereunder) will be made without the approval of the
independent nonexecutive Directors.

(b)  No Change without Independent Shareholders’ Approval —
Save as described in “— Renewal and Reproduction” below,
no change to the agreements governing the Contractual
Arrangements will be made without the approval of the
Company’s Independent Shareholders. Once Independent
Shareholders’ approval of any change has been obtained,
no further announcement or approval of the Independent
Shareholders will be required under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules unless and until further changes are proposed.
The periodic reporting requirement regarding the
Contractual Arrangements in the annual reports of the
Company (as set out in “— Renewal and Reproduction”
below) will however continue to be applicable.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review (Continued)

(0

Economic Benefits Flexibility — The Contractual
Arrangements shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the entire economic benefits derived by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through (i) the Group’s option (if and
when so allowed under the applicable PRC Laws) to acquire,
all or part of the entire shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft
for nil consideration or the minimum amount of
consideration permitted by applicable PRC Laws and
regulations, (ii) the business structure under which the entire
profit generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group is
substantially retained by our Group, such that no annual cap
shall be set on the amount of service fees payable to the
WFOE by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, and (iii) the Group’s right
to control the management and operation of, as well as, in
substance, all of the voting rights of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Renewal and Reproduction — On the basis that the
Contractual Arrangements provide an acceptable framework
for the relationship between the Company and its
subsidiaries in which the Company has direct shareholding,
on the one hand, and the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, on the
other hand, that framework may be renewed and/or
reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or
in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the existing Contractual
Arrangements. The directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group may establish will, upon renewal
and/or reproduction of the Contractual Arrangements,
however be treated as connected persons of the Company
and transactions between these connected persons and the
Company other than those under similar contractual
arrangements shall comply with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. This condition is subject to relevant PRC Laws
and regulations and approvals.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review (Continued)

(e)

Ongoing Reporting and Approvals — the Group will disclose
details relating to the Contractual Arrangements on an
ongoing basis as follows:

0

(if)

(iii)

The Contractual Arrangements in place during each
financial period will be disclosed in the Company’s
annual report and accounts in accordance with the
relevant provision of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors will review the
Contractual Arrangements annually and confirm in the
Company's annual report and accounts for the relevant
year that: (A) the transactions carried out during such
year have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements,
have been operated so that the revenue generated by
the DalLian Kingwisoft Group has been substantially
retained by the WFOE; (B) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and (C) any new contracts entered into, renewed
or reproduced between the Group and the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group during the relevant financial period
under paragraph (d) above are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditors will carry out procedures in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and will
provide a letter to the Directors with a copy to the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, at least ten Business Days before
the Company bulk prints its annual report, reporting their
findings whether that the transactions carried out
pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group to the holders of
its equity interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review (Continued)

(e)

Ongoing Reporting and Approvals — the Group will disclose
details relating to the Contractual Arrangements on an
ongoing basis as follows: (Continued)

(iv)

For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected
person”, the DaLian Kingwisoft Group will be treated
as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the
directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group and their respective associates will
be treated as the Company’s “connected persons”
(excluding for this purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group). As such, transactions between these
connected persons and the Group (including for this
purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft Group), other than
those under the Contractual Arrangements, shall
comply with Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

Dalian Kingwisoft also undertakes that, for so long as
the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, it will provide the Group’s management
and the Company’s auditors with full access to its
relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be
carried out by the Company’s auditors on the
connected transactions.

During the Year, the Company had complied with the waiver
conditions set out by the Stock Exchange and all necessary GEM
Listing Rules requirements as required by the Stock Exchange.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued) E8THEE)
Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual BB HNRERFEER #)

Review (Continued)

Confirmations from the Independent Non-executive BYFHITEFHER
Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the MK B IERTEF D WR - NAFE - A%
Contractual Arrangements for the Year to which any member of ~ EHE(AKE R RN AP F RBETHOHTNE QO L T
the Group was a party were entered into by the Group: RAREER -

(i)  the transactions carried out during such year have been () FZEFEETHIR SRR E LT HEEER K

entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of MEIS WiIRBHEMEEEEENRAR
the Contractual Arrangements and have been operated so AREHBIGBEECERBHO TN EE

that the revenue generated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities has been substantially retained by the WFOE;

(i)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the (i) GfRMEZ I A EARERE ARZEHREZ

Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity WAREZSEETAERAREIEM D
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or K

transferred to our Group;

(i) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced (i) A E RO K B E BN wE BHAEEET
between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities 3o BESEREAEFEHN Rk
during the reporting period; and

(iv) the Contractual Arrangements are entered into in the (v) BHILHIRAEE —KREKBEEHBET

ordinary and usual course of business of our Group on R—REEGNREL REAEBEmMEEAR
normal commercial terms and are fair, reasonable and Y EBEEF WHEARATRARFE
advantageous, so far as our Group is concerned and in the FREVEEERIES o

interests of our Company and the Shareholders of our
Company as a whole.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review (Continued)

Confirmations from the Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has engaged the auditor to conduct certain procedures in respect
of the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements of the Group for the Year, in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
during the Year:

a)  the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements have received the approval of the Board;

b)  the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements governing such
transactions; and

Q) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted connected transaction(s) or
continuing connected transaction(s) under the GEM Listing Rules.
The following set out details of the Contractual Arrangements and
the transactions relating to the Technology Services Contract (as
defined below) which constituted continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) BRERXS (&)
Contractual Arrangements BRRH
The transactions contemplated under the Contractual AT BE NHETZ Y ABRARIFERELS

Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of the
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Please refer “Contractual
Arrangements” from pages 40 to 62 of this report for details.

Technology Services Contract

On 12 March 2021, Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.*
CRIIT & Z RS IR RIS AR R]) (“Shenzhen Kingwisoft”) (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Beijing
Heng Tian Kai Xuan Technology Limited* (1t =18 XS hERI AR
A A]) ("Heng Tian Kai Xuan”) entered into a technology services
contract (the “Technology Services Contract”) in relation to the
provision of information technology manpower services and other
related services by Shenzhen Kingwisoft to Heng Tian Kai Xuan.
Details of the Technology Services Contract were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2021.

Heng Tian Kai Xuan is a connected person of the Company by
virtue of being indirectly owned as to 45.13% by Mr. Xie Zhikun,
who is a controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Technology Services Contract
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual cap
contemplated under the Technology Services Contract were more
than 5% but less than 25% and the total consideration was less
than HK$10,000,000, the transactions contemplated thereunder
were subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements but were exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

*  for identification purpose only
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Technology Services Contract (Continued)

The Directors are not aware of any related party transactions
disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements that
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group, nor are there any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that require to
be disclosed in this annual report under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements,
where applicable, in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors was interested in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Mr. Xie, a controlling shareholder of the Company, holding
approximately 68.41% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2021 through Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and
Kang Bang (HK), indirectly holds 100% equity interest in FR & 7~
EIHRAR (“Zhongzhi Capital”). Zhongzhi Capital's key
business include private equity investments in the primary market,
private placement, mergers and acquisitions of overseas businesses
and funds which may compete or are likely to compete with the
business of the Group.

Mr. Xie also holds indirect interests in the following companies,
which are corporations licensed by the SFC to conduct Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities: (1) 80% indirect interest
in Tang Wealth International Limited, which mainly provides
private banking services, including providing asset allocation and
investment consultancy services, including agency sales of public
funds and private equity funds, issue of private equity funds or
asset management etc. but is not engaged in traditional
investment services; and (2) 45.1% indirect interest in Hang Tang
International Capital Management Limited, which mainly provides
asset management and funds distribution services. Mr. Xie is also
the sole shareholder of ZhongTai Financing (Hong Kong) Limited,
which holds a Money Lenders Licence and conducts money
lending business.
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COMPETING BUSINESS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, the controlling
shareholders of the Company or their respective close associates
(as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any direct or indirect
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with
the business of the Group as at 31 March 2021.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable Donations

During the year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HKD10,000.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, STOCK SHORT
NAMES AND WEBSITE ADDRESS

As announced on 20 April 2021, the name of the Company has
been changed from “ZZ Capital International Limited R & A&
WHMR AR to “Zhongjin Technology Services Group
Company Limited F&RBHEREEE RN BRAF]" with effect
from 25 March 2021. The stock short names of the Company for
trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
have been changed from “ZZ CAP INTL" to “ZJ TECH SERVICE”
in English and from "FREEXREE" to "REBHERE" in
Chinese, with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 23 April 2021. The
website address of the Company has been changed from
“www.zzcapitalinternational.com” to “www.zhongjintechnology.com”
with effect from 23 April 2021 to reflect the change of company
name.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Corporate Social Responsibility

Sustainable development and environmental protection are
embedded in our corporate culture. The Group has participated in
a wide range of charitable activities and donation, many of which
have been recognized by various organizations. During the Year,
we received a number of honours or acknowledgments of our
work as a responsible corporate citizen:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT (Continued)

Corporate Social Responsibility (Continued)

— A Good Employer Charter by the Hong Kong Labour
Department

— A Caring Company by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

— A Heart-to-Heart Company by the Hong Kong Federation of
Youth Groups

— A Good MPF Employer with “e-Contribution Award” & “MPF
Support Award” by Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority

— A "Wastesi$e Certificate” & “Energysi$e Certificate” under
Hong Kong Green Organization Certification

— A Happy Company by the Hong Kong Promoting Happiness
Index Foundation and Hong Kong Productivity Council

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 49.4% of the Group’s revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 12.2% of the Group’s
revenue. In addition, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 23.0% of the Group’s cost of services with the
largest supplier constituted approximately 11.5% of the Group's
cost of services.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

The Group did not own any property or property interests as at 31
March 2021.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 224 of
this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 69 to 87 of this annual
report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 have been audited by BDO Limited. BDO Limited was
appointed as the auditor of the Company on 1 December 2020 to
fill the causal vacancy arising from the resignation of Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who was the auditor of the Company
for the three preceding financial years. A resolution for the re-
appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

NIU Zhanbin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2021
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

(9

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the chief executive
officer of the Company, monitors the internal control
policies as well as risk management effectiveness, and
evaluates the financial performance of the Group with an
aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The Board currently
comprises three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board sets
out on page 35 of this annual report. Biographical details of
the Directors and the relationship amongst them, if any, are
set out on pages 23 to 27 of this annual report.

Five board meetings were held during the Year. The

attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 77
of this report.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received the confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong and Mr. ZENG Liang, and considers all of
them independent in accordance with the guidelines set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group's affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving quarterly
reports, interim reports, annual reports and announcements
of quarterly results, interim results and annual results,
considering dividend policy, reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and so
on.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation to Board committees and
management (Continued)

The Board also delegates certain necessary powers and
authorities to the subsidiary’s board of directors to review
the corporate advisory services while the Board has an
oversight role.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.

Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by BT Corporate
Governance Limited (the “Internal Auditor”) performing the
internal audit function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he has received during the Year, which is set
out on page 77 of this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are separated.

Mr. NIU Zhanbin is the chairman of the Company who is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board. Mr.
JIANG Yulin is the chief executive officer of the Company
who is responsible to the Board for managing the business
of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Mr.
NIU Zhanbin and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZENG Liang (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee included, among other
things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held two
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group's remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the adjustment
of the director fee of the independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to comparable companies and
other relevant factors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee)
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year.
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2020,
and nominated the appointment of executive Directors.

According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee recognises the importance and benefits of the
gender diversity at the Board level and shall continue to take
initiatives to identify at least one female candidate to
enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Weidong
and Mr. ZENG Liang in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29
of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process; (ii) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the internal auditor and external auditor and
ensure their coordination. The Audit Committee held four
meetings during the Year.
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(H) AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) (H) EZEE" %)

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Internal Auditor, reviewing quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group and providing advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board for improvements.
The Audit Committee considered and approved the terms of
engagement and remuneration of the external auditor, and
discussed with them the nature and scope of their audits
before the audits commenced. In discharging its duties, the
Audit Committee met with the Group’s management,
Internal Auditor and external auditor several times during
the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2021, among other things, the

Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.
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() ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND (1) EEEBEREZI
TRAINING
During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at RAREE EREEFELHFEZTOEE  BERE
Board Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting, Remuneration BEees TWELEeexn EEXLEee
Committee Meeting, Nomination Committee Meeting, the FENM20Q0FBEEFAY - REFRIRE -

2020 Annual General Meeting, Extraordinary General DA R E S 2 a2k an T
Meeting and their training records are as follows:

Number of meetings attended/held

L/ BrEERY
2020
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
W08
B2 BNZR®  HMZRE  REZEE RRER BREH
RERESNE Ef EE EE EE N xg Sl
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. NIU Zhanbin HEREE 55 - 22 7" 1N 22 /
M. JIANG Yulin BEMELE 55 - - - " 0 v
Mr. WU Hui RERE 55 - - - 1N 22 /
Non-executive Director: FHEE .
Mr. FU ChiKing Johnson RERTE
(Resignation effective on 29 April 2020) (202054 A 29 BE(E) 00 - - = 00 00 -
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #317EE .
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID %4 55 4/4 - 7 1 1 /
Mr. ZHANG Weidong REREE 565 44 0 1 /1 0 /
Mr. ZHANG Longgen RERLE
(Resignation effective on 30 April 2021) (R 202154 B30 B&E) 55 4 0 - " n /
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL () EREERAIPEE
CONTROL
The Group places high importance on internal control which AEESEERANBEE  RAEKTIAER

is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Internal Auditor,
to assess and review if a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system are in place at
least once a year. The Internal Auditor reported to and met
with the Audit Committee to review internal audit findings
on enterprise risk and internal control matters.

The Group has made a very substantial acquisition during
the financial year and it brings a new environment to the
risk management and internal control of the Group.

Since the first quarter of 2020, the world has been facing a
critical situation caused by the COVID-19 virus, giving a
significant challenge to all stakeholders in the globe. The
Group has taken a series of appropriate arrangements to
handle the impact throughout this extraordinary period.
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL () EREREERAIPERE®)
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Internal
Auditor, using risk-based approach, has identified and
carried out review on four areas covering financial,
operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Internal Auditor comprises the
following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;

. Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;

o Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Internal Auditor’s
observations, documentation and review of the
procedures, systems and controls that could improve
the effectiveness and/or efficiency of the procedures,
systems and controls to mitigate the risks to which the
Group is subjected.
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (continued)
Risk management system (Continued)

Based on the report done by the Internal Auditor, apart
from the risk in relation to the COVID-19 situation, the
Group has been reminded that the risk in maintaining,
obtaining and renewal of certain qualification certificates,
licenses and intellectual property rights should be carefully
managed since it could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

Moreover, any leakage of personal data or client information
could bring a significant risk and impact to the Group’s
business and reputation, and therefore the Group has
implemented strict internal control procedures to safeguard
the security and confidentiality of its databases.

The analysis and opinions from in-depth industry knowledge

and relevant-experienced professional third parties should
be taken into considerations.
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (continued)
Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Internal Auditor has conducted a review of the Group’s
internal control system by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of the
procedures, systems and controls established by the Group
in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and receipt
cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.

With respect to the internal control review done by the
Internal Auditor, no major issues on control failure is noted
during the Year.

The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration of the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Internal Auditor,
external auditor and Audit Committee and making sure that
all significant legal and regulatory requirements are adhered
to.

Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information as
well as to establish minimum standards for handling of
material non-public information to protect client-sensitive
data and avoid violating any applicable laws or internal
policies. With these procedures and measures in place, the
Group is able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

COVID-19 Virus and Business Continuity Plan

COVID-19 virus presents a unique risk and impact to the
globe since the beginning of this year, it creates uncertainty
and anxiety to the global economy and produces critical
damages to some industries. The Group realised that a
traditional business continuity plan such as relocating staff
to a secondary site may be insufficient to mitigate the risk.

The Group has developed a communication plan with staffs
to ensure the coordination and cooperation can be
maintained at a satisfactory level during this extraordinary
period.

Working-from-home practice has been widely adopted in
most of the businesses, the Group has also implemented
such practice to protect our employees.

Besides purchasing epidemic prevention products for our
employees throughout the period, the Company has also
provided various of employees’ benefits and practices to
provide a suitable protection to the employees.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$1.80 million (approximately
RMB1.60 million) and HK$0.07 million (approximately
RMBO0.06 million) respectively. The non-audit services was
related to the professional fees for tax compliance services.

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of non-audit
services provided by the Company’s former external auditor
were approximately HK$2.0 million (approximately RMB1.78
million). The non-audit services were related to the
professional fees for reporting accountant services HK$1.66
million (approximately RMB1.48 million) and tax compliance
services HK$0.34 million (approximately RMB0.30 million).
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The statement of the Company’s auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 88 to 96 of this annual report.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

(N)

Ms. CHAN Sau Mui Juanna, the company secretary of the
Company, is a fellow member of both the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. During the Year, she
undertook no less than fifteen hours of relevant professional
training to update her knowledge and skills.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the Dividend Policy on
21 June 2019 that aims to set out the principles and
guidelines of the Company in relation to the declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends to its
shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors: —
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

)

business condition and strategy of the Group;
(2) capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential
project or investment;

(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified
and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Saved as disclosed in “Change of Company Name, Stock
Short Names and Website Address” in the Directors’ Report
on page 65, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.
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(P) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (P) BEREF

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong (for the
attention of the Company Secretary), specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the
outcome and an EGM will not be convened as
requested.
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(P) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals (Continued)

3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected.

The written notice must state the full name of the person to
be proposed for election as a Director, as well as the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Company will assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the meeting of the election to give Shareholders at
least 10 business days to consider the proposed
appointment.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS (Q) REZMZ

As announced on 20 April 2021, the website of the Company
has been changed from “www.zzcapitalinternational.com”
to “www.zhongjintechnology.com” with effect from 23 April
2021 to reflect the change of the Company name.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company encourages all Shareholders to attend general
meetings, which provide opportunities for direct dialogue
between the Board and the Shareholders, and for
Shareholders to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals.

At the annual general meeting held 11 August 2020, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and representatives from the ex-auditor of the
Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, were present
to attend to possible questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.zhongjintechnology.com provides an
effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. Shareholders and investors may at any time
send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the
Company Secretary by post at 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong or by email at infohk@zhongjintechnology.com.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED (FORMERLY KNOWN AS ZZ CAPITAL
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED)

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhongjin
Technology Services Group Company Limited (formerly known as
ZZ Capital International Limited) (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 97 to 223, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

88

B
FENRBREEEROERD A
(AP EERBBRERLR) BR

(REASHEZMA LA BRAA])

BB mR|ME

=z
=

BRMEEZT SRR REEERDBRA R (BIFE
FREEABRBARAR) (UTEHBIEAFLD K
HBARI(ATHE [EREDIHNEITHS
F223BMEEMB®RE - BHER2021F3 A 31
BRGEMBERLE  BHEZALFENLREGE
EREMEEKRER SARIEHRNEGEER
ERERREAEMBEHRERNT  RREETESFTH
KME -

BPRE  ZEFAMBRRERBEF LT
RERMEAKEBVBREEL) (FEMBHRS
U DEEMFsHRKRT HERER202143
A31 BNEE M BHRREEBEZ A L FERER
BUBRARGERERE W EREB(AF
CIVEEYE S



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED &R RIS EE R D AR A A
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 2

Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% BLAD ¥

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (“the Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Purchase price allocation for business
combinations

Refer to note 17 (intangible assets), note 18 (goodwill) and note
36 (business combinations) to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had business
combinations. Management has identified the assets and liabilities
of the acquired companies at their acquisition date, based on
which, management performed a purchase price allocation for the
acquisition.

Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the fair
value assessment of identifiable assets and liabilities. These
significant judgements and estimates include the adoption of
appropriate valuation methodologies and the use of key
assumptions in the valuation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Purchase price allocation for business
combinations (Continued)

We consider this area a key audit matter given the magnitude of
the purchase price allocation for the business combinations, and
the significant judgements and estimates involved in the fair value
assessment of the identifiable assets and liabilities and the
recognition of goodwill arising from the business combinations.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to purchase price allocation for business
combinations included:

o We obtained an understanding of management’s internal
control and assessment process of purchase price allocation
for business combinations and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

o We assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of
the external valuer engaged by management;

o We obtained the valuation reports in relation to the
purchase price allocation for the acquisitions, and engaged
our in-house valuation experts to assess the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies adopted by management.
We challenged and assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation with the involvement of
our in-house valuation experts;

o We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations

of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities and
goodwill.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to note 18 (goodwill) to the consolidated
financial statement

As disclosed in note 6 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had gross carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to approximately RMB581,824,000 as at 31 March
2021, which arose from the acquisition of KingNine Holdings
Limited (“KingNine”) and its subsidiaries (the “KingNine Group”)
in 2020.

Based on the management assessment, no impairment loss on
goodwill was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Management engaged an independent valuer to assist in carrying
out the goodwill impairment assessment. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, management considered that KingNine
Group is a cash-generating-unit (the “KingNine CGU") and the
goodwill is allocated to the KingNine CGU. The recoverable
amount of the KingNine CGU was determined based on value-in-
use method. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to
forecast the future cash flows expected to arise from the KingNine
CGU based on the financial budgets approved by management.
Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
goodwill impairment assessment. These significant judgements
and estimates include the adoption of appropriate method to
perform goodwill impairment assessment and the use of key
assumptions in the value-in-use calculation, which primarily
include revenue growth rate, long-term growth rate and pre-tax
discount rate.

We consider this area to be a key audit matter due to the
significance of the carrying amount of goodwill and the significant
judgements and estimates involved in the goodwill impairment
assessment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)
Our response:

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

o We assessed the appropriateness of management’s
identification of cash-generated-units and allocation of
goodwill based on Group’s accounting policy and our
understanding of the Group’s business;

o We assessed the competency, capability and objectivity of
the external valuer engaged by management;

o We obtained management’s assessment on goodwill
impairment and engaged our in-house valuation experts to
assess the appropriateness of the method adopted by
management to perform goodwill impairment assessment
and the discount rate used by management. We challenged
and assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used in the value-in-use calculation with the involvement of
our in-house valuation experts;

o We evaluated the reasonableness of the sensitivity analysis
performed by management on the key assumptions to
understand the impact of reasonable changes in
assumptions on the recoverable amount; and

o We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations
of the goodwill impairment assessment.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 19 June
2020.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT #ZEEmEFi S M EBRRAIENSE
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 1)

STATEMENTS (Continued)

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used e
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the e
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of e
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the e
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

CHOI Kit Ying
Practising Certificate Number P07387

Hong Kong
22 June 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 % 202143 A31 B L F/E

20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
biaE AR¥FIT ARMTF T
(Restated)
(#eE5)
Revenue WA
Value-added telecommunication and HEEE (S MEERE
related services income WA 7 264,368 -
Corporate advisory income == ON 7 355 13,690
Loan interest income BERF B WA 7 1,440 1,406
Total revenue FEUNON 266,163 15,096
Cost of services BRFE R AN (181,207) =
Gross profit EF 84,956 15,096
Other income and losses, net Hlg A R B8 %58 8 35,198 43,764
Marketing expenses izl (2,624) =
Research and development expenses R (7.196) =
Administrative expenses THAX (65,826) (57,094)
Provision of expected credit loss on JFE LS BR 3R K B i B I SRR
accounts and other receivables, net FEHEEBEREFE (313) =
Finance costs EUR DN 9 (6,413) (183)
Profit before tax [ F5 A1 Y ) 10 37,782 1,583
Income tax expense TS 11 (10,906) (170)
Profit for the year FEREFR 26,876 1,413
Profit for the year attributable to BT AT EEFRET
Owners of the Company iN/NGIEZ =N 26,153 1,413
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 723 =
26,876 1,413
Earnings per share attributable to AATEEAELRER
owners of the Company EZF
— Basic (RMB cents) — AR (AREBAL) 15 0.68 0.04
— Diluted (RMB cents) — BE (AR 15 0.68 0.04
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 % 202143 A31 B L F/E

20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htst AR¥ETT ARBTIT
(Restated)
(Fe=3%1))
Profit for the year FREFAN 26,876 1,413
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hib 2w (B8 W
ltems that may be subsequently ErsgEHois
reclassified to profit or loss: BEMIEE
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBESED
translation of foreign operations EH =% (37,719) 42,319
ltems that will not be reclassified to TEEHIEE
profit or loss: BRrIER -
Fair value loss on equity instrument AT EFAEAM
at fair value through other ZHEWN R
comprehensive income TEMAFEER 20 (3,235) =
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FR2ME(EE), WALE
for the year (14,078) 43,732
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LTALELZE
attributable to (B518), WA 8%
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ =N (14,801) 43,732
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M R 723 -
(14,078) 43,732
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At At At
31 March 31 March 1 April
2021 2020 2019
M2021F  R2020F  R20194F
3HA31H 3H31H 4H1H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Wit AR¥Fr AREFT AREFIT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E75) (ge&E3)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment I EYS &L 16 28,068 202 389
Intangible assets | EE 17 184,693 - -
Goodwill [EES 18 581,824 - -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 28,119 6,330 341
Deferred tax assets EERIRE = 34 8,720 = =
Equity instrument at fair value BEAFEFAREMER
through other comprehensive Wasr s T E
income 20 1,328 - -
Loan receivables FEW E X 21 12,690 15,686 13,726
Deposits e 22 4 2,048 2,008
Total non-current assets FRBEELHE 845,446 24,266 16,464
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 26 2,080 - -
Convertible loan receivable at fair BAFETAEZIE (1A
value through profit or loss FEFFABE]) BB
("FVTPL") AR E R - - 144,097
Accounts receivable FEUBR K 23 311,326 3,210 45
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - 1e REA
receivables FEUS FhIE 24 48,393 202,423 34,803
Financial assets at FVTPL AT EFABEN
TREE 25 5,061 3,275 5,857
Tax receivable FE U F 18 425 2,373 2,228
Cash held on behalf of clients REFIFEZES 27 - 3 3
Bank balances and cash RITAER LIRS 28 202,710 433,142 409,724
Total current assets B EEHTE 569,995 644,426 596,757
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts payable FETBR R 29 10,564 3 3
Other payables and accruals HipEMNRIBRESTEA 30 38,689 10,446 4,461
Contract liabilities aHEaE 31 1,406 = =
Borrowings BE 32 29,000 - -
Tax payables FERTFR IR 7,479 3,274 3,859
Consideration payables FERRIE 36 70,000 = =
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 11,247 3,592 =
Total current liabilities REEEEHE 168,385 17,315 8,323
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As at 31 March 2021 7220214 3 A 31 H
At At At
31 March 31 March 1 April
2021 2020 2019
M2021F 2020  H20194F
3HA31H 3H31H 4731H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WiE AR%®Fr AR®EFT AREFIT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E=7) (&&E5))
Net current assets RBEEFE 401,610 627,111 588,434
Total assets less current liabilities AEERABARG 1,247,056 651,377 604,898
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Consideration payables ERRE 36 190,837 - -
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE 34 23,818 = =
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 16,770 2,747 =
Total non-current liabilities FREBEEHRLE 231,425 2,747 =
Net assets BEERE 1,015,631 648,630 604,898
Capital and reserves EXRf#EE
Share capital B& A 35 35,395 29,848 29,848
Reserves HE 964,509 618,782 575,050
Equity attributable to owners RRARIHE AR
of the Company 999,904 648,630 604,898
Non-controlling interests AR 15,727 = =
Total equity A 1,015,631 648,630 604,898
On behalf of the directors REE=S
NIU Zhanbin WU Hui
& 538 RE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE E
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TEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # £ 202143 A 31 HIEFE

Retained
profits/ Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Statutory Revaluation Translation (Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve losses) ~ Sub-total interests Total
(note (i)  (note (i) (note (i) (note(iv) (note (v))
RERH/

Bx  BiER AABE  LERE  EHBRE  EXBR (RHER) N FERRS &3t
(W6) (K6 (R  WEe)  (KE6)

RMBOOO  RVBOOO  RMBO00  AMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RVBOOO  RMBI000

ABRTL ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETL ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR

At 1 Apil 2019 (Restated) R019F4F1B(EE5) 29848 584350 7944 = - BT M21) 604898 - 6048%8
Profit for the year EREH - - - = = = 1413 1413 = 1413
Other comprehensive income for the year  £RE 2B - - - - - 4319 - 4319 - B3N
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ £AZEMH2E - - - - - B39 143 8732 - B
At31March2020and 1April 2020  R2020538318%

(Restated) WNE4F1R(REY) 29848 584,350 7,944 - - 66,196 (39,708) 648,630 - 648,630
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - 26,153 26,153 m 26,876
Other comprehensive loss for the year  £AEH2EAE - - - - BBy @I - (40954 - (40,954)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  £R2EFELE - = 5

(323%) (31719 26153 (14801) 3 (14078)

Transfer to statutory reserve BRRLERE - - - 7,740 - - (7,740) - - -
Issue of new shares BOFR 5547 360,528 - - - - - 366,075 - 366,075
Capital contributions from non- FERERTE

controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1,200 1,200
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERELR - - - - - - - - 13804 13804
At 31 March 2021 R2021£3831A 35,395 944,878 7944 7,740 (3,235) 28477 (21,295 999,904 15721 1,015,631
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Note (iii):

Note (iv):

Note (v):
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mEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 # £ 202143 A 31 HIEFE

The Group's share premium represents the proceeds received from share
issuance, net of any directly attributable transaction costs credited to
share capital and/or share premium.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing, over the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereafter.

Statutory reserve represents the amounts set aside from the retained
profits by certain subsidiaries incorporated in People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance with the
relevant regulations and their articles of association, the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to allocate at least 10%
of their after-tax profit according to the PRC accounting standards and
regulations to legal reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of
registered capital. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes
and are not distributable or transferable to loans, advances, cash
dividends.

Change in fair value of equity instrument in note 20 is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated within the revaluation reserve
within equity. The Group will transfer amount from revaluation reserve to
retained profit when the relevant equity instrument is derecognised.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 £ 202143 A31 HILF[E
2021 % 2020 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
btaE AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(seE5)
Cash flows from operating activities K& ZEREBRERE
Profit before tax FR 5 A& A 37,782 1,583
Adjustments for: BLAT S B A -
Dividend income Az B A 8 (63) (113)
Interest income FLE A 8 (7,340) (12,590)
Finance costs EURID RN 9 6,413 183
Depreciation of property and MERBHETE
equipment 16 8,534 258
Loss on disposal of property and HE Y KR EE
equipment 16 217 =
Depreciation of right—of-use assets FREEERE 19 10,198 3,507
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 17 9,045 -
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries IR A AR - 2,766
Fair value (gain)/loss on investments AT E AEZR
at fair value through profit or loss, TEAFE ()
net /B 8 (2,186) 2,863
Fair value gain on convertible loan BN THER ABER
receivable at fair value through UL AT IRAR B 3R
profit or loss, net N EWREFE = (51,032)
Provision of expected credit loss on JFE LB BR 3k K L A i UK
accounts and other receivables, net HIETEEEEERE
e iEpe 313 -
Operating cash flows before working LEESEHHINLE
capital changes Rene 62,913 (52,575)
Increase in accounts receivable JE W BR RR3E N (41,014) (3,165)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TERNFRIE - =e REAM
other receivables FEMGRIE R 445,664 25,487
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables FEWE TR (1) 2,995 (943)
Increase in inventories FEEM (74) =
Decrease in cash held on behalf of clients RKEFE#FE 2R amD 3 =
Decrease in accounts payable &~ BR FUR (1,688) =
(Decrease)/increase in other payables Hoth fE S 308 CRi > ) 18 0 (248,523) 5,901
Increase in contract liabilities AHBELM 463 -
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 4% & 277158,/ (FTA) RS 220,739 (25,295)
Income tax paid EARAEH (20,621) (901)
Net cash from/(used in) operating BESTERE,(FTA)
activities RE&FHE 200,118 (26,196)

103



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED & RHZ RIEEER D ERE A 7
2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT %R

T T
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
= =1
mAEERERXR
For the year ended 31 March 2021 £ 202143 A31 HILF[E
20215 20204F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaF ARBFIT ARBTFT
Cash flows from investing activities RETBEHEESRE
Purchase of property and equipment BEHENMK 16 (11,791) (53)
Development costs paid BT (7,791) =
Interest received 2R & 8 7,340 12,590
Dividend income received BB A 8 63 113
Repayment of convertible loan receivable &% A FET ABZRA
at fair value through profit or loss U AT IR B R - 7,323
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits IRENZ R FIRI TR = 161
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 )=PNG) 36 (344,229) =
Net cash (used in)/from investing BRETH (FTA) Frg
activities BE&FE (356,408) 20,134
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEMERERE 38
Interest paid ERAFE (914) =
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (26,000) =
Repayment of interest portion of lease EEAEAENERD
liabilities (811) (183)
Repayment of principal portion of lease ~ EEHE&BELE LD
liabilities (9,807) (3,418)
Capital contribution from non-controlling  FFIEASHEZR £ E
interest 1,200 =
Net cash used in financing activities RETEARS T (36,332) (3,601)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR & NIR&EEWR A F5E (192,622) (9,663)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUREPIRNEFEEY
of the year 428,290 405,013
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — SME[E R EFEHIE S RIS
on cash and cash equivalents, net SBMz T AR (37,459) 32,940
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRRENMIREEEY
of the year 198,209 428,290
Analysis of balances of cash and cash RERREZEBYEBDH
equivalents
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRNIR 28 121,383 191,831
Time deposits TEHATE =K 28 76,826 236,459
Bank balances and cash as stated in the ~ #Z&IREREXRTIE
consolidated statement of cash flow RITHR IR 28 198,209 428,290
Restricted bank balances SR FIRITAE 28 4,501 4,852
Bank balances and cash as stated in the 434 BATEAR R F AT AY
consolidated statement of financial IRITHEBRIAS
position 28 202,710 433,142
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e MR ME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

GENERAL

Zhongjin Technology Services Group Company Limited
(formerly known as “ZZ Capital International Limited”) (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
respectively. The shares of the Company are listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

As at 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company
("Directors”) considered that the Company’s immediate
holding company is Zhong zZhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited and the Company’s ultimate holding company is
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited. The Company’s
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Xie Zhikun.

The principal activity of the Company is investments holding.
Its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
investment holding, provision of corporate advisory services,
investment advisory and asset management services,
proprietary investments and money lending. After the
completion of the acquisition of KingNine Holdings Limited
(“KingNine") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine
Group”) on 15 October 2020 (the “Acquisition”), which
constituted a very substantial acquisition and connected
transaction of the Company under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”), the Group’s principal activities also
include the provision of the following services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"):

(@)  Back-office services (primarily provision of customer
service solutions, and setting up of contract service
systems and centre);

(b)  Comprehensive marketing services; and

(c) Data centre services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company (note 4).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &% 2021 43 A 31 H L F&Z

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RHEBUBEREER([FAE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") &R |)

(a) Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (a) BEAFHITRKEITEBUBER

— effective 1 April 2020

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 Reform
and HKAS 39

Amendments to Definition of Material

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to Covid-19 Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions

None of these new or amended HKFRSs has a material
impact on the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior period. The Group has not
early applied any new or amended HKFRSs that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period except
for the amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions. Impact on the applications of these
amended HKFRSs are summarised below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a
Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business
and introduce an optional concentration test that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The election to apply the concentration test is made
for each transaction. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. If the
concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business. If the
concentration test is failed, the acquired set of
activities and assets is further assessed based on the
elements of a business.
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e EHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILF/E

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RAEABEBREERL(EBE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FHREAER |) 2)
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs () EAFITRZEITEBUBR

— effective 1 April 2020 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and
HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide a
number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging
relationships that are directly affected by interest rate
benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is affected
if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about the timing
and/or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the
hedged item or the hedging instrument. These
amendments have no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as it does not have
any interest rate hedge relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8,
Definition of Material

The amendments provide a new definition of material
that states, “information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting
entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will
depend on the nature or magnitude of information,
either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. These amendments had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements of,
nor is there expected to be any future impact to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &% 2021 43 A 31 H L F&Z

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RHEBUBEREER([FAE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FEIREER |) &)
(Continued)

(@) Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs

— effective 1 April 2020 (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

HKFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical
expedient to lessees in accounting for rent concessions
arising as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, by
including an additional practical expedient in HKFRS
16 that permits entities to elect not to account for rent
concessions as modifications. The practical expedient
applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and only if all of
the following criteria are satisfied:

(@) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b)  the reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be
accounted for in accordance with this practical
expedient, which means the lessee does not need to
assess whether the rent concession meets the
definition of lease modification. Lessees shall apply
other requirements of HKFRS 16 in accounting for the
rent concession.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILF/E

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs
— effective 1 April 2020 (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions (Continued)

Accounting for rent concessions as lease modifications
would have resulted in the Group remeasuring the
lease liability to reflect the revised consideration using
a revised discount rate, with the effect of the change
in the lease liability recorded against the right-of-use
asset. By applying the practical expedient, the Group is
not required to determine a revised discount rate and
the effect of the change in the lease liability is
reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the rent concession
occurs.

The Group has elected to utilise the practical expedient
for all rent concessions that meet the criteria. In
accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
has applied the amendment retrospectively, and has
not restated prior period figure. As the rent
concessions have arisen during the current financial
period, there is no retrospective adjustment to
opening balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2020
on initial application of the amendment.

New/amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group's current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 16

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS 2018-2020

Cycle

Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 37
Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Insurance Contract and the
related Amendments®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
and HK Interpretation 5
(2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause*

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2!

Amendments to HKFRS 1
First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards,
HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, HKFRS16
Leases and HKAS 41
Agriculture?

Discloure of Accounting
Policies*

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract?

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021°¢

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising
from Single Transaction*
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

g Effective for business combinations for which the date of

acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.
B The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning
on or after a date to be determined.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period, specify that classification is unaffected by
expectations about whether an entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of a liability and explain that
rights are in existence if covenants are complied with
at the end of the reporting period. The amendments
also introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make
clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the
counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets
or services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILF/E

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMEABUEBREERL(EBE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FEIREER |) &)
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMEEKRERZHT K&

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and HK
Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause (Continued)

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The
revision to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in
the interpretation to align with the Amendments to
HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not
change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments and revision in the
future will have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling
such items, and the cost of producing those items, is
recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company is currently assessing
the impact that the application of the amendments
will have on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RAEABEBREERL(EBE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FHREAER |) 2)
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMEEKRERZH &

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to
the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that,
for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result
of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RHEBUBEREER([FAE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FEIREER |) &)
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMEEKRERZHT K&

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is
a sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. When the
transaction with an associate or joint venture that is
accounted for using the equity method, any gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary
that does not contain a business are recognised in the
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these amendments may have an impact
on the financial statements in future periods should
such transaction arise.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. NS BMEBREERN(HEY
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") BHEER ) @)
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMEEKRERZIT L

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect
financial reporting when a company replaces the old
interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform
(the “Reform”). The amendments complement those
issued in November 2019 and relate to (a) changes to
contractual cash flows in which an entity will not have
to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount of
financial instruments for changes required by the
Reform, but will instead update the effective interest
rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark
rate; (b) hedge accounting in which an entity will not
have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely
because it makes changes required by the Reform, if
the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and
(c) disclosures in which an entity will be required to
disclose information about new risks arising from the
Reform and how it manages the transition to
alternative benchmark rates.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that

the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RHEBUBEREER([FAE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FEIREER |) &)
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMEEKRERZHT K&

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that
applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the "10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6
of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a
financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or
received between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other’s behalf are included.

HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example
13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement of
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
resolve any potential confusion regarding the
treatment of lease incentives that might arise because
of how lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that

the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RSB BHREERN((EFBEH

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") BHMEAER | (&)
(Continued)
(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) SEMEERERZHT &

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1

The amendments aim to require disclosure of
accounting policy information that focuses on how an
entity has applied the requirements of HKFRSs to its
own circumstances.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8

HKAS 8.32A and 34A further explain that an entity
uses measurement techniques and inputs to develop
an accounting estimate. Measurement techniques
include estimation techniques and valuation
techniques. The effects on an accounting estimate of
a change in an input or a change in a measurement
technique are changes in accounting estimates unless
they result from the correction of prior period errors.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract,
issued in June 2020, added paragraph 68A and
amended paragraph 69. An entity shall apply those
amendments to contracts for which it has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which it first applies the
amendments (the date of initial application). The entity
shall not restate comparative information. Instead, the
entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings or other
component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of
initial application.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RSB BKHREERN(EBH
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") FEIREER |) &)
(Continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRSs that have been (b) SHEMBEEMRER I K

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 37 (Continued)

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

The amendments modify one of the criteria that must
be met in order for the practical expedient to be
applied. They extend the period over which lease
payments originally due may be reduced to end on 30
June 2022 (previously 30 June 2021). Therefore, using
the earlier example of a rent concession which
reduced lease payments originally due by 15% from
July 2020 — July 2021, an entity that is eligible to
apply the revised practical expedient could account for
this rent concession using the practical expedient,
whereas it could not under the original amendments
issued in May 2020.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. These
amendments clarify whether the initial recognition
exemption applies to certain transactions that often
result in both an asset and a liability being recognised
simultaneously. Such instances might include the initial
recognition of leases from the perspective of a lessee
or asset retirement obligations/decommissioning
liabilities.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that

the application of the amendments and revision in the
future will have an impact on the financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
the consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are account for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

CHANGES IN FUNCTIONAL AND
PRESENTATION CURRENCIES

Prior to October 2020, the Company regarded Hong Kong
dollar("HK$") as the functional currency. Upon the
completion of the acquisition of the KingNine Group in
October 2020, whose functional currency is Renminbi
("RMB"), the Directors consider that the primary economic
environment has been substantially changed. Since then, the
Company’s primary source of revenue, that is, dividend, is
derived from the operation of KingNine Group operating in
the PRC. As such, it is more appropriate to use RMB as the
functional currency of the Company. Accordingly, the
Company has determined the change of the functional and
presentation currencies from HK$ to RMB starting from 1
October 2020.

The change in functional currency of the Company was
applied prospectively from the date of change in accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS"”) 21 “The
Effect of Change in Foreign Exchange Rates”. Comparative
figures have been restated to reflect the change in the
Group's presentation currency.
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CHANGES IN FUNCTIONAL AND
PRESENTATION CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purpose of re-presentation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group from HK$ to RMB, the
assets and liabilities are translated into RMB at the closing
rates as of the respective reporting dates. Income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the respective periods. Share capital, share premium and
reserves are translated at the exchange rates at the date
when the amount were determined (i.e. historical exchange
rate).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group'’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer/acquiree is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement period (a
maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwvill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of
and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a

bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

] the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

126

5.

FESTTHE®)

REEFEHNZWA#E)

WA AT E R — IR - IEhlEREREE
B WARIAI2E R AMBEHNRENER
12 85 FR] AR

. REREEGE  EFRABRELHE
AR B DR T2

s AEENBHEENMEANAIEERE
MR BREPIEHNN—BEE @ 3

s AKEMNBHOYRELHAEEAHE
RGN EE  BAKREHESE R
FXE IR A R 2 BT TRORER

BRI WASERPESHEE mRRBEH
72 ] HEE 1O B FET R RE R, o

ENEBREASERNTEFEREmIRH 2
B MAKECD 3R E P WERE (3
ARl KESRR) -

RHREREA | SREOEEZRE 25

% o
Ak

TERBITROEENERIRER AR
B ARBARERETROBEENNER
BANRLBEITABEORTNAERRAMN
AESHNCERBA - BEEAREERH
REENERE RS RBEHIRNEOBR



ZHONGJIN TECHNOLOGY SERVICES GROUP COMPANY LIMITED &R RIS EE R D AR A A

2020/21 ANNUAL REPORT 2

—4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group
will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.

Back-office services

For back office services, the Group primarily involves in the
provision of a range of services that help its clients to
support their end-users. This includes primarily provision of
customer service solutions which primarily provides round-
the-clock contact services in multiple languages and
accessible from various channels and provision of solutions
on project-based customer service software and system
development and setup support services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Back-office services (Continued)

For the provision of customer service solutions related
services, revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered. The provision of services is billed based on
various measurement mainly taking into account the
number of service staff involved, the quality of the tasks
performed, the service hours provided with fixed hourly
rates and performance based adjustments. The Group has a
right to invoice in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date.
The directors of the Company have assessed that
outsourcing services represent one single performance
obligation and the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs. Therefore, the directors of the
Company considered that the services are satisfied over
time. Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in
an amount to which the Group has a right to invoice.
Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis or according to
agreed payment terms and consideration is payable when
invoiced.

For the provision of revenue from setting up contact services
systems and centres, it includes a comprehensive set of
activities in the contract, such as system design,
implementation, installation, trial launch and software and
hardware support, which are highly interdependent and
interrelated. The directors of the Company have assessed
that revenue from provision of the services is recognised at a
point in time when the services are rendered according to
the terms of the agreements which the control of the service
is transferred when the Group has provided the related
services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Comprehensive marketing services

The Group renders various marketing services including
advertising services to brand owners on various platforms
including apps, social media and websites. Revenue from
provision of the services is recognised when the services are
rendered according to the terms of the agreements which
the control of the service is transferred when the Group has
provided the related services over the service period, the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of comprehensive
marketing services is recognised over the period in which
the services are rendered.

Data centre services

The Group provides various corporate data centre services
such as value-added services to internet data centres for
securities houses, including their trading system, quotation
system and data processing system. The revenue is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group throughout the contract period.
Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time with reference to the actual
service period passed relative to the total contract period.
The portion of services fee received in advance but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected as a
current liability as such amounts represent revenue that the
Group expects to earn within one year.

Performance obligations for the provision of back-office
services; comprehensive marketing services and data centre
services are either for a period of one year or less or bill a
fixed amount for each month of services provided. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Corporate advisory services

Corporate advisory income from providing specified financial
advisory services in relation to type 4 (advising on securities)
and/or type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities within the scope of financial services related
activities, are recognised at a point in time when the reports
are issued under the terms of each engagement and the
revenue can be measured reliably, as only that time the
Group has a present right to payment from the customers
for the service performed. Invoices for the financial services
are issued upon signing service contracts and when research
report is delivered.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarters and office equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5.

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

With the exception to which the practical expedient for
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions applied (see note2(a)),
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees

(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transaction

Share options granted to employees and other
providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment, to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at date of
grant, the fair value of share option granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve, if any, will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will continue to be held in share options
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as accounts and other payables and other non-
current liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial information of the Group and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statements of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment (Continued)

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents included cash in hand, short term bank deposits
with original maturities of three months or less.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGUs when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of CGU. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of CGU. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group if CGU)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a CGU or a group of CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for account receivable arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial assets or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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e HRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of equity investment in
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combinations to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OCl and accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group'’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial asset (including
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, loans and receivables, restricted cash, pledged
deposits, and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
counterparties, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix with reference to internal credit rating of
the receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial

instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairmen

t of financial assets (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,

the G
signifi

roup presumes that the credit risk has increased
cantly since initial recognition when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i

(ii)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers the event of default occurs when the
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

In respective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTHE®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) LRI A ®)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERE (&)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) (il BEERELBREE(E)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past (b) 54 MR EmERNE

due event; /R ;

(iv)

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit
impaired were assessed individually. Where ECL is
measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days
past due.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual

arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the asse'ts of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including accounts and other payables
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 5, the directors of the Group are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Fair value assessment of the brand, customer
relationship and technical know-how and
the recognition of goodwill arising from
business combinations

Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
fair value assessment of the identified brand, customer
relationship and technical know-how and the recognition of
goodwill arising from business combinations. These
significant judgements and estimates include the adoption
of appropriate valuation methodologies and the use of key
assumptions in the valuation.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU or group
of CGU to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU or
group of CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash flows, a material impairment loss/further impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
goodwill is RMB581,824,000. No impairment loss was
recognised during the year. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 18.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable

Accounts receivable with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the
Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the
accounts receivable which are individually insignificant. The
provision rates are based on aging as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix
is based on the Group'’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s accounts
receivable are disclosed in Note 23 and Note 41 respectively.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for PRC income taxes. There are a number of
transactions and calculations for which ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential tax
exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"), responsible for
making strategic decisions, allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments. The
reportable operating segments and their results are as
below:

—  provision of value-added telecommunications and
related services (including back-office services,
comprehensive marketing services and data centre

services); and

— provision of financial services (including corporate
advisory service)

Segment results

For the year ended 31 March 2021

WAR D EBER

HITEFCREARTIBELERRE ([XEE
BRRE])  ARELREORR - DEEER
PEVRIR - A2/ LN B

REHEEEHH

EHEENT -

— RHEBEEEREERS (BEEER
% 2 & HRE R BUERT O RF) |

M

— RHSREERS (EREXBRERS)

7 EBRR

BHZ2021F3A831HLLEE

Value-added
telecommunication
and related Financial

services services Corporate Total

BEER
RiEERE SRR ¥ @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue WA 264,368 1,795 - 266,163
Gross profit eS| 83,161 1,795 - 84,956
Other income and losses, net HttARBEF8E 15,774 108 19,316 35,198
Marketing expenses EERY (2,624) - = (2,624)
Research and development expenses TR 2 (7,196) - - (7,196)
Administrative expenses THEY (16,848) (5,460) (43,518) (65,826)

Provision of expected creditlosson  FEUER 2l ELfd e U F0E

accounts and other receivables, net ~ BEIEEERERTR (313) - - (313)
Finance costs BIISRL AN (1,622) - (4,791) (6,413)
Profit/{loss) before tax BB ATER/ (B8) 70,332 (3.557) (28,993) 37,782

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there is only one
operating segment. The Group does not present separate
segment results.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % 202143 A31 HIEF/E
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDEER #)
(Continued)
Segment results (Continued) DEBFE(2)
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services are NEBFERBWAB DTN -
as follow:
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARMTF T
(Restated)
(&=F:7))
Value-added telecommunication BEEBEMAEERT
and related services:
— Back-office services — B EaR®
e Provision of customer service o RIEEFIRISMATE
solutions 247,043 -
e Setting up of contact service o BUMBRERG LD
systems and centres 8,602 =
255,645 -
— Comprehensive marketing services — 2EE HEART 931 -
— Data centre services — BRI RS 7,792 =
264,368 -
Financial Services: & EARTS -
— Corporate advisory services — 1R RS 355 13,690
— Loan interest income — BEHEMWA 1,440 1,406
Total Azt 266,163 15,096
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WA RZHER &)

(Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition AR RS
Value-added
telecommunication and
related services Financial services Total
BESEREERE SRRE @st

20215 20209 20214 2020  2021%F  2020%
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000

ARBFT ARBTT ARBFRT ARETT AR¥TT ARETT

At a point in time R, 8,602 = 355 13,690 8,957 13,690
Over time [beliza 255,766 - - - 255,766 -
264,368 - 355 13,690 264,723 13,690
No other analysis of the Group’s segment assets and BHRASENSHEERERER T ETH
liabilities is presented as the information is not regularly RETEIELERREAHERN QAR
provided to the CODM for review. B E A AT
Geographical information i & & K
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REIBEFHIKA
202145 2020 %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(#2&E%)
The PRC =a 264,368 11,166
Hong Kong a7 355 2,552
The United States of America EFIRERE([ERH])
(the "USA”") 1,440 1,378
266,163 15,096
The revenue information above is based on the FEABER TV EREEENES
location of the customers. Al o
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDEER #)
(Continued)
Geographical information (Continued) HWEER (&)
(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥RBEE
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204
3A31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFr
(Restated)
(&&&7))
The PRC s 820,111 =
Hong Kong BE 2,593 6,532
822,704 6,532

The non-current asset information is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments
(e.g. equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income, loan receivables and deposits)
and deferred tax assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % 202143 A31 HIEF/E
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDEER &)
(Continued)
Information about major customers FTEEFEH
During the year, revenue from customers individually FR - EAEEZEWAEE10% 2 @5 %
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group are as PUgAZT :
follows:
20215 20204
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARBFT
(Restated)
(&e&:7))
Customer A ZEA 32,462 =
Customer B ZFEB 29,698 -
Customer C ZEC 29,328 =
Customer D 25D - 5,191
Customer E 2F5E - 3,822
Customer F BPEF - 2,090
For the year ended 31 March 2021, customers A, B and C NEBE2021E3831HIFEE EFA-B
are from value-added telecommunication and related R CREBEEERABREDEB(20204F -
services segments (2020: customers D, E and F are from BED -ENFRESRAREDED)

financial services segment).
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OTHER INCOME AND LOSSES, NET 8. HMWARBEFEE
2021 % 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMFT
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Net investment income/(loss) REWA(EE) T8
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial BAFEFABR ([RAFE

assets at fair value through profit or AEmHemEERNTEK

loss (“FVTPL") m/ (E18) F8 2,186 (2,863)
Fair value gain on convertible loan AT AR AR YT

receivable at FVTPL BERAFERE = 51,032
Dividend income AR B U A 63 113
Interest income FEWA
Interest income from financial assets at 1R AN S R EEF B

amortised costs WA

— Bank deposits — RITIFH 3,424 4,737
Interest income from financial assets at ~ IRAFEFALBEZNEHEE

FVTPL GORURSR N

— Structured deposit — R 3,916 7,853
Other income and losses Hih A REE
Government grants and subsidies T4 Bk e # B (Bt 22 (i)

(note (i) 3,095 -
Value-Add Tax (“VAT") refund (note (i) 32L& ([ILER ) B (B (i) 5,580 =
Gain/(loss) on exchange differences N =Em s/ (E18) 9,235 (14,342)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BENMKREERE

equipment (217) -
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries B A REE - (2,766)
Others HAmh 7,916 -

35,198 43,764
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % 202143 A31 HIEF/E

OTHER INCOME AND LOSSES, NET
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The government grants and subsidies mainly represented the rent
subsidies, high-tech enterprise subsidies, subsidies related to software
and digital innovations enterprise, employment subsidies.

(ii) According to the Value-Added Tax Policy for Software Products (Cai
Shui 2011 No. 110), for sale of self-developed software products by a
general VAT tax payer, after VAT is levied at a tax rate of 17%, the
refund-upon-collection policy shall be applied and the portion of the
actual VAT burden that is in excess of 3% shall be refunded.

FINANCE COSTS

HWAREEFE )

paE -

0] BUSH B MBI E RIRTES ) - SRR
fBh - MR FRIEARRHE) - SLEHE) o

(i) BERGEREERBR(FF2011FEFE 110
%) B ARISERATANE S ERENEHE
6 B 17% B RS ERE - BRAXEE
RECGE - WEREERIMENAEBB3I% KNI

5o

B AR AR

2021 % 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARMTF T

(Restated)

(Fe&E5)

Interest on bank borrowings RITEEF S 507 =
Interest on other borrowings HaBER L 407 =
Interest on lease liabilities HEBRZFE 811 183
Interest on consideration payable FEAREZFE 4,688 -
6,413 183
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BRBIAER
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: MR B0 B A &40 BR R 514218
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTFT
(Restated)
(5&&E5))
Employee benefit expense (including BERAMAX (BIEEEEH
Directors’ remuneration (note 12)) (Ktet12))
— Salaries and other benefits — Hre LHAET 139,214 18,052
— Discretionary bonus — BIBTEAL 2,790 205
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIFT B R
contributions 7,955 247
— Amounts capitalised — B LEE (6,176) =
143,783 18,504
Auditor’s remuneration % EREN N & 1,595 1,622
Legal and professional fees ERREXER 16,592 28,136
Depreciation of property and equipment 4% [ s 847 & (f755 16)
(Note 16) 8,534 258
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE (FiF19)
(Note 19) 10,198 3,507
Amortisation of intangible assets | EERE (T 17)
(Note 17)
— Cost of services — BRFEACAS 871 =
— Administrative expenses — THAX 8,174 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &£ 202143 A31 HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. IEHEAxX
20215 2020 FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
(Restated)
(ieE%)

Current tax BNHEARH IR

PRC Enterprise Income tax (“EIT") RN ZEMEHR(TREMER]) 14,453 1,935
Under/(Over) provision in prior years BEFERETR(BERE) 2,385 (1,765)
16,838 170
Deferred tax (Note 34) EEFLIE (M5E34) (5,932) =
Income tax expense Fris i Sz 10,906 170

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime continues to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The basic tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%
under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and implementation regulations of the EIT Law. For
the current year, certain subsidiaries of the Group qualified
as advanced technology enterprises and have obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities for the reduction
of the applicable tax rate to 15%.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 1. BB @)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to FRFTSHES TEGE R M EMm 2T
the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit R BRB AR FIE BRI T
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
20215 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT
(Restated)
(Fg&&=75)
Profit before tax [ A5 A v ) 37,782 1,583
Tax calculated at domestic income tax LA FTIS TR % 25% (2020 F -
rates of 25% (2020:16.5%) 16.5%) st E B TRIA 9,446 262
Under/(over) provision in prior year BAFERBETR(BEREE) 2,385 (1,765)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HEMRBIMA 2 BFZE
purpose (2,405) (9,042)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  NAFIFLF S 2 TG £
tax purpose 8,863 502
Tax effect of deductible temporary REEZH AR L =5 2 T is
differences not recognised T (300) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI AR R RIIE B K
recognised (399) (184)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not REER M AE AR IBIB R 2%
recognised 2= - 9,773
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries H fth B3 [& & & KT B A 7] Fi R
operating in other jurisdictions TRz & (6,978) 668
Others HAth 294 (44)
Income tax expense for the year REEFMEMAX 10,906 170
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERBETHRAEMS
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year B 45 i A GEM _E T AR Bl & A &) {6 51 3% 55 /Y
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and FENRETHAEEEHNNOT :
the CO is as follows:
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31BLFE
Retirement
Salaries  Discretionary benefit
Directors’ and other bonus scheme
fee benefits (note (iii))  contribution Total
R miERa BIRER
EShe HitER (B i) HELE fit

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBETR  ARETR ARETT ARETT  ARETR

Executive directors (note (i) BITES(HE ()
Mr. NIU Zhanbin RNy i - 2,758 - 16 2,774
Mr. WU Hui RIBRAE - 673 282 16 971
Mr. JIANG Yulin (chief executive officer)  BEMEA (1B 4%) - 3,026 - 17 3,043
- 6,457 28 49 6,788
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
(note (ii)) (i (i)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid % & 689 - - - 689
Mr. Zhang Weidong REREE 689 - - - 689
Mr. Zhang Longgen REEREE 689 - - - 689
2,067 = . 2 2,067
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Fu Chi King Johnson HERLE 17 = = = 17
2,084 6,457 282 49 8,872
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S 12. EERBETHRAEME @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BZE2020F3A831HLFE
Retirement
Salaries  Discretionary benefit
Directors’ and other bonus scheme
fee benefits (note (iii))  contribution Total
gEK Wi BIRER
Ezne HiEF (B i) SR @t

RMB'000  RMB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBBTR  ARETR ARETT ARETT  ARETZ

Executive directors (note (i)) BITES(HE()
Mr. NIU Zhanbin HEEEE (R 20195
(appointed on 29 August 2019) 8A29RERMT) - 1,410 - 7 1,417
Mr. WU Hui RERE(R2019F
(appointed on 29 August 2019) 8A9BEZT) = 405 = 11 416
Mr. JIANG Yulin (chief executive officer) ~ BEM4EE (77HE5)
(appointed on 26 March 2020) (R2020%3 A 260
EZfT) - 49 - - 19
Ms. Duan Di Bkt (R 2019%
(resignation effective on 29 August 2019) 8 29 BIEE(T) 747 - - - 741
Ms. Zhang Yun RERT(R2019F
(resignation effective on 29 August 2019) 8 729 BEE(E) 511 = = = 511
1,258 1,864 - 18 3,140
Independent Non-executive Directors BV #1TES
(note (ii)) (Hrat (i)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid 5% 701 - - = 701
Mr. Zhang Weidong REEEL 701 - - - 701
Mr. Zhang Longgen RRBLE 701 - - - 701
2,103 - - - 2,103
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Fu ChiKing Johnson By ks 214 - - _ 214
3,575 1,864 - 18 5457
Notes: B
(@) The chief executive officer’'s emoluments and executive directors’ (i) FYRRITRER R RAITESE S IS E TR
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with ARATREK B AR EBHATEZ RIS MIRMG o
the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.
(i) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above (i) FBERTEE I ME IR EEFESR MR
were their services as Directors. fit o
@iy~ Bonuses are discretionary and are based on the Group’s performance (iy FEAERAEEFERRBBERT -

for the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 # % 202143 A31 HIEF/E

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which any Directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during both
years.

None of the Directors received or will receive inducement
fees for accepting of office as directors.

Details of the material interests of the Directors in
transactions, arrangements and contracts entered into by
the Group are set out in note 39.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2020: one) Directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 12 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020:
four) highest paid employees who are neither a Director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

. BEERBETHRAEME @)

BELAESNZMEFERELRBNE
Ry 22 B -

MEEFWRRRGREGIREREE AR E
Ej] o

BENAEEFUNRS THRELHFH
BRESFBHARMFE3 -

AuEEHMES

FR - AEBANSESFMNE TEE2MU
(20204F : 1) ES » HHFFBHN EX
MsE12 - £ - 82 F 362 (20204F : 4£7)3F
ARBIEEREZSTTHRABRSHHES D
BT ¢

202145 2020 5

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFIT

(Restated)

(&&71))

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %% -~ 2B R EWFZ 4,710 5,230
Discretionary bonus B TEAL 193 126
Retirement benefits R A 47 55
4,950 5,411

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

FEFAMSETIHEANZSHIES
AT :

Number of employees

EE%HE
20215 2020
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T & 1,500,000 75 7T 1 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T £ 2,500,000 78 7T 2
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DIVIDENDS 14. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders HZE2021F3A31BIEFEXERARNT
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021, nor B R T M RBIR IS - BREH
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the R VA PR 7 4 4 3 R 312 {A] AR B (2020 FF -
reporting period (2020: nil). 7)o
EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BIREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RABEE AE(EEFIRER REERF TR
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BATEUETE -
following data.
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AE®FT
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Earnings: B
Profit for the year attributable to owners — ZRA &R A FE1L T N3 F
of the Company 26,153 1,413
20214 20204
Number of shares: BIPEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary M ESREAREERT
shares for the purposes of calculating TmAT IR S 8
basic and diluted earnings per share 3,844,162,104 3,550,496,836
Diluted earnings per share amount was the same as basic AREZE2021 63 A31HIEFEL&E
earnings per share amount as there were no potential ERTEHELER Q0205 #) WEK
dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 31 EE RN EGREARZRFER o

March 2021 (2020: nil).
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERZRE
Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold fixtures and and other Motor
improvement  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
& - EFK
HEMERE HERERE HAit% AE @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Cost B
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) 72201944 A1 H
(E7)) 237 758 = = 995
Additions NE - 53 - - 53
Disposals HE = (8) = = 8)
Exchange differences P 5 =58 15 46 = = 61
At 31 March 2020 and M2020F3 8318 K
1 April 2020 (Restated) 2020F4 A 1H
(feE7)) 252 849 = - 1,101
Acquisition of subsidiaries U EHTBAR) 13,326 - 8,260 3,250 24,836
Additions ANE 8,893 10 2,426 462 11,791
Disposals HeE - - = (412) (412)
Exchange differences [ 5 =% (19) (64) = — (83)
At 31 March 2021 ®202153A31H 22,452 795 10,686 3,300 37,233
Accumulated depreciation R IFE
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) 72201944 B 18
(s E5) 20 586 - — 606
Provided for the year FREE 82 176 - - 258
Eliminated on disposal HERTH (8) = = (8)
Exchange differences [& 5 =5 39 - _ 43
At 31 March 2020 and M2020F3A318 %
1 April 2020 (Restated) 20204 A1H
(&E7)) 106 793 - - 899
Provided for the year FEREHE 6,013 28 2,186 307 8,534
Eliminated on disposal HERTHE - - - (195) (195)
Exchange differences fE 5 =58 (11) (62) = = (73)
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3 A31H 6,108 759 2,186 112 9,165
Carrying value BREE
At 31 March 2021 M2021F3A31H 16,344 36 8,500 3,188 28,068
At 31 March 2020 (Restated) 720203 A318
(s=51) 146 56 = = 202
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16. MERRE®)
The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on iR R IE B IR E SRR T ERT
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: £
Leasehold improvement  Shorter of lease term or 20% HEMERE I 20% (JABR
RERE)
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 50% B KERRE  20% E50%
equipment
Electronic and other 33% BF RHAMRE 33%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20% =] 20%
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B &EE
Customer  Technology Development
Brand relationship  know-how Patent cost Total
Mm% EFBE BWEXNE gl LS @zt

RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL  ARMTT ARETT ARETLT ARETT ARETI

(note) (note) (note)

(Hiit) (Hiit) (Hiit)

Cost A
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 20203 A318 k%

2020084818 - - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHB AR 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 16,851 185,947
Addition RE = = = = 7,791 7,791
At 31 March 2021 2021438318 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,396 24,642 193,738
Amortisation ®i
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7420203 A318 R

202054818 - - - - - -
Provided for the year FRBE = 3,974 4,043 1,028 - 9,045
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A8318 - 3,974 4,043 1,028 = 9,045
Carrying value REE
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A8318 61,900 56,726 40,057 1,368 24,642 184,693
At 31 March 2020 2020438318 - - - - - -
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The patent of the Company is generated from the
acquisition of subsidiaries, which have finite useful lives.
Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over a period of 5 years.

Development costs in relation to an online training and
certain call centre platforms are internally generated and will
be used in provision of customer service solution business,
which have finite useful lives. Such intangible assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 to 7
years.

As at 31 March 2021, the remaining amortisation period of
patent, customer relationship and technology know-how
were approximately 1 year, 7 years and 5 years respectively.

Note:

The brand is considered by the management of the Group as having indefinite
useful life because it is expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely.
The brand will not be amortised until its useful life are determined to be
finite. Instead they will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there
is an indication that they may be impaired. The recoverable amount of the
brand has been assessed together with the goodwill acquired on the same
business combination, as set out in note 36. The customer relationship and
technical know-how have definite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-
line basis over a period of 7 and 5 years respectively.

7. BEEE®)

ARARMBENRENKBHBELRR  REH
RAMERFH - RFBLEENIRERER
5 4 HARI A T LA B85 o

B B4R L35I A T AU AR L F B RO R B A
ATABEL - Wi§ARRERTP R
NREY - REARAERFEY - ZFET
BEDRERENSZ7TFHRMAN T AR -

R2021F3HA318 ' &&F - REEREE
MEENBOFSGEERO NN E1F 7
FENSE o

AEBERERRMERERAERFY  WIHARE
EHeERPFRREB/NFE - EAEAFREER
BRZA TEHREETHE -  MRSESEFREL
RAIBERE R 2 BN TREREITRE R o ST
36 FATHEL - a0 AR E & FER N AR R E B A GG R
BED TS EPRAARRNEXANBAEARAE
REH - WIRERED BN 7F RS FHEA T AR -

GOODWILL 18. BE&
RMB’'000
ARKFT
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 M 202063 A31H&2020F4 518 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) Wb~ 7 (A7 36) 581,824
Gross and net carrying amount at 31 March 2021 7202143 A 31 B BRE&E % E 581,824
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

KingNine Group

As at 31 March 2021, the recoverable amount of the
KingNine Group’s CGU has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation and this valuation was performed by
an independent qualified professional valuer. The calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a 5-year period.
KingNine Group's cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a long-term growth rate of 3%. This
long-term growth rate is based on the KingNine Group’s
historical growth and relevant industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as
follows:

Revenue growth rate 5.9%-38.8%
Long-term growth rate 3%
Pre-tax discount rate 24.4%

Revenue growth rate estimates
Rates were estimated ranging from 5.9%to 38.8% per
annum for the CGU throughout the 5-year budget plan.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated by
using a steady growth rate of 3%.
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18. & (&)

KingNine £ &

7202193 A31H - KingNine s @ IR & E
EBA AR E B IIREREBETERE
ErBEBAERBLAEAKEEGERME
T BEAMERAREEBMILEZRES
FHURBESLHz2REREE-
KingNine 52 B 5 FF HAPR AANEI IR € M E KA
R RERI% Y - 2RI RETIRIE
KingNine s E 8 E 18 & R AR T RIERTE
BIME - WiRiBR A BT 2 FHREER

‘Z%T_(o

SEEREERANIEERNT

LN 5.9% % 38.8%
RHEfIE R R 3%
T AT EEIR = 24.4%
WA B REE G

BESFHREFENRECELEMNNFER
REE1A59% £38.8% - AEHEMIRS
RENERABEERE3I% INAEE -
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

KingNine Group (Continued)
Discount rate

Discount rate represents the current market assessment of
the risks specific to KingNine Group CGU, taking into
consideration the time value of money and individual risks
of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in
the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is
based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its
operating segment and is derived from its weighted average
cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both
debt and equity. The cost of equity is determined using the
Capital Asset Pricing Model ("CAPM”). The CAPM depends
on a number of inputs reflecting financial and economic
variables, including risk-free rate and a premium to reflect
the inherent risk of the business being evaluated. These
variables are based on the market’s assessment of the
economic variables and comparable listed companies with
business scopes and operations similar to those of the CGU.
The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings
the Group is obliged to service. Company specific risk is
incorporated by valuer’s professional judgement and
experience, including by consideration of unlisted company
risk premium, negative impact from Covid-19 and business
risk in sustaining the future growth.

Such estimation is based on KingNine Group’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development. The pre-tax discount rate reflects the
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

176

18. & (&)

KingNine ££& (&)
BRE

BEIR EAEKingNine RBR £ EA B FE M
REVRITH IS - EPEERERENEME
BEMREAREMFTTLESENEREE
M ERIE R © BIR R TIZAKE REZED
BB EBRTE - YRMEBEMEFHES
A (TIAEFIESRA]) - IEFHES
AT MBS N - REXRAEBEARE
EEERA(EXEEEERADEE - &
AEEEBEABURR % (B R iR B 15 K 480K
HENHABE  BRERRNEKRRA
AHEEH CERRRAGEE ZFEENE
REEEZE AR FHEE MG EBURR
TELEMNEE LMARGEMSFEM
E o BEERATIREASEAEEEEN
EREEE - ARANRER RS GHEH
BEXAGEERMAZE - BREEBEZRER
EHRARERGE ERARSRNAERZE
KRB R EEAR

BRLE TR B KingNine SR B 2 BERIR K
EREHMISER ZAHED - HATRRIR X
RREE R R EEMNRTH S R ER
MESELBVERZEERAR -
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

KingNine Group (Continued)
Discount rate (Continued)

Sensitivity of value in use to reasonably possible changes in
key assumptions:
Key assumptions Revenue growth rate;
Discount rate
Possible Changes Further 5% decrease in pre-churn
revenue growth rate;

1% increase in discount rate

Sensitivity An decrease in the pre-churn
revenue growth rate would result in
an decrease in value in use of
RMB35,972,000, and vice versa;

An increase in discount rate would
result in an decrease in value in use
of RMB61,087,000, and vice versa.

The directors of the Company believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these key assumptions would not
cause the aggregate carrying amount of the goodwill and
other assets within KingNine Group CGU to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount.

As at 31 March 2021, the recoverable amount of the
KingNine Group CGU was RMB867,423,000 which has
exceeded its carrying amount of the goodwill and other
assets including intangible assets (note 17) within KingNine
Group by RMB64,146,000. Accordingly, no impairment of
goodwill has been recognised during the year ended 31
March 2021.
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18. & (&)

KingNine ££& (%)
REBRE(E)

EREEHERBRONS B EEHNB
E:

BRRR  WAERE:
LLER S

AREME S BERKAIRARERE—F
TF&E5% :
BREIRER FF1%

HEE BEPRABIBMARREETRE
EHRFERAEAERNLD ARE
35,972,0007T * R ZINOA

BIRE FASERERERAT
&A% 61,087,0007T &2

ARBEFMRIE  TAZEEHRERAEE
RIS IEZE T2 EHKingNine REIR
TELBEVNBHEREMEENRDAER
HE AW RS FEAERR -

7202143 A31H - KingNinets E IR & &
4 BRI B 5 A A K1 867,423,000
7T BAEEE L H A E E (B3 KingNine
SENEREE M 17) NEEEARE
64,146,0007T » [ b - # 202143 A 31
HIEFE W R R ERE -
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

19. FRAEEE

Office premises

and
staff quarters
BAEYER
EIREE
RMB’000
ARETT

Carrying value REE
At 31 March 2021 M20214F3 A31H 28,119
At 31 March 2020 (Restated) 202043 A31 8 (&LE5) 6,330
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBEFIT
(Restated)
(F&=5))
Additions e 6,659 -
Depreciation charge TEER 10,198 3,507
Total cash outflow for leases MERS R LR 12,654 3,601
Expense relating to short term lease ERAREBHEENRX: 1,931 -

For both years, the Group leases office premises and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB28,017,000
(2020: RMB6,339,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of approximately RMB28,119,000 (2020:
RMB6,330,000) as at year end date. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.
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MER AEEHEEHAENERBETRES
EHEE - CRABEEHR /I ESFOHM
BEaK - HEITLEERERE LS - REE
MR E A AT RENRER - AKE
ERARMNEZRLETE SR A RHHITHO
LI

o REEBBEREEEEHARE
28,017,0007T (20204 = A & #6,339,000
7L) MR A E ELH ARY 28,119,000
7T (20204 : AR ¥6,330,0007T) ° BrH A
AFMBHEEENKRZTI  HERHRY
E IR HEEETSANEER
BEHEAR o
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20. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE ATVEHABMDER SR

21.

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

The Group has approximately 12.14% equity interest in a
private entity established in the PRC upon the acquisition of
Kingnine Group on 15 October 2020. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate the investment in equity
instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the investment in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding
the investment for long term investment purpose and
realising the performance potential in the long run. The
12.4% equity instrument was revalued at 31 March 2021.
The valuation was carried out by an independent professional
qualified valuer. The fair value of the investment is
RMB1,328,000 as at 31 March 2021, resulting fair value loss
of RMB3,235,000 was recognised in other comprehensive
income.

20. &R
=T

B

=

AREE 20204 10 A 15 H Y Kingnine 5
EEgAE —ERPEKIHLETEND
1214% K- R R EEDIREBERT
BRERTEREAFET AEMEEIRE -
TR EERBRIBSERISE NGRS
BTIREAEEFEREERPRERAER
BERRHAEEENNRE - 124% EmnTA
ER2021F3A31THER -BUEELE
R EMBEEITHE - R2021F3 A31H
WENFEREANRE1,3280007T ' EHA
FEEEARY3,235000 TR EMEEUK

Sz 2
TR ©

LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. EWER
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204F
3A31H 3A31A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
(Restated)
(5&=E=%))
Fixed-rate loan receivables EWE BB 12,690 15,686

On 22 May 2018, the Group has signed an ancillary
transaction agreements with Aretex Capital Partners, LP
("Aretex Capital”) in which the Company agreed to advance
an amount of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB13,142,000) for a term of 7 years at an interest rate of
9.5% per annum payable on a quarterly basis to affiliates of
Aretex Capital so that they can make capital contributions in
order to satisfy the requirements of certain fund partnership
agreements for their investments in, among others, the
acquisition of GKD Index Partners, LLC's equity interests
(conducting its business under the name “Alerian”).
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7201845 A22 B + A& [H 8 Aretex Capital
Partners, LP ([ Aretex Capital |) 2] B2 5
Wik BUARFRERFEFNEIS% M
Aretex Capital WEE B ARN —EBHTFR
2,000,000 7T (HEE R LI AR 13,142,000
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21. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amount to RMB 12,690,000 (2020: RMB
15,686,000). The loan receivables are secured by the
partnership interest in Aretex Capital. The borrowers are not
permitted to sell or repledge the pledged interest in Aretex
Capital and its affiliates, and Aretex Capital has certain
equity interest of Alerian. There has not been any significant
changes in the quality of the collateral held for the loan
receivables. The Group has not recognised a loss allowance
for the loan receivables as the amount is insignificant.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 41.

21. EWER &)

M2021F3A31H EREZXKNEEE
7 A R #12,690,0007T (20204 : A R ¥
15,686,000 7T ) ° FE UK & 5K LA Aretex Capital
WEBEDERR - ERATBLEHER
1 Aretex Capital & ELB 8 A 7] A 3R %5
i Aretex Capital # & Alerian ) % T A% 4 o
REWERFEERZEET R T MER
BH) o AN E I KT IE W E KR B B
& FAESBAITEK -

BAERH A IEHN K T4 -

22. DEPOSITS 22. B¥
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204F
3H31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
(Restated)
(FeE=51)
Rental and management fee deposits HeREBEIRS - 2,043
Others Hib 4 5
4 2,048
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 23. FEWRRFX
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
(Restated)
(&E7))
Accounts receivable TEURBRE 38 311,636 3,210
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 37 : TEHA{Z EE 18 & E (310) -
311,326 3,210

The Group allows a credit period of 3 to 6 months to its
customers. The directors of the Company are in the view
that there have been no significant increase in credit risk of
default because the amounts are from customers with good
credit rating and continuous repayment. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed periodically.

The Group does not hold any collateral or credit
enhancements over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 41.
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 23. EWERR (&)
The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivable, T RRSmEAREEEREBRZ258
presented based on the date of services rendered at the end JEUER SRR BRBR AT ©
of each reporting period.
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20215 20204
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#¥FT AREFT
(Restated)
(&=5)
0 — 60 days 0&60H 144,385 3,210
61 — 120 days 612 120H 48,793 -
121 — 180 days 1212180 H 36,330 -
Over 180 days 180 BIA 81,818 -
311,326 3,210

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FANFE - BERHMmEWEIE
RECEIVABLES

31 March 31 March

2021 2020

20215 20204F

3A31H 3H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETT

(Restated)

(re=31))

Prepayments TRt RIA 21,638 807
Refundable rental and management fee  FREME S REEBIZS

deposits 1,890 -

Deposits and other receivables (note) e R H M EWERIE (M 5) 24,868 201,616

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses & : TBEA= B E51E# (3) -

48,393 202,423
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PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Note: As at 31 March 2020, the balance mainly included the consideration
receivable in connection with the assignment of the Group’s
convertible loan receivable. The amount has been received in full
during the year ended 31 March 2021. Details of the transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2020.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for
the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 41.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

24. EANFIE REREMERFE

(&)

Hiat : M2020F3 A31 0 BRAGHEERERAER
EREBERATRREREBAOERARE - ZRIEE
REZE2021F3 A31 B LLFEHRBENE - Z
RPGHBERAARBEA2020F3 A31 AR
ERE -

HZE2021F3A31HIEFE - HibElx
EH R BT E B H R4 »

25. BRFEFABENERHEE

31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204
3A31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARSFr
(Restated)
(FE%))
Hong Kong and the USA listed equity DEARIEEE BB NER
investments classified as held for TAAEIRE TR ™E
trading, at quoted market price 5,061 3,275

These investments include listed securities in Hong Kong of
RMB2,375,000 (2020: RMB2,127,000) and listed securities
in the USA of RMB2,686,000 (2020: RMB1,148,000), which
are level 1 financial instruments and the fair value are based
on the quoted bid prices in an active market. There are no
significant unobservable inputs.
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26. INVENTORIES 26. 8

31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20215 2020 F
3A31H 3A31H
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETFT
Hardware and facilities [EXEINE i 1,829 =
Accessories, phones and packages B - BRERBE 251 -
2,080 =

27. CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS 27. REFEFEEZHRE

The Group’s licensed subsidiary maintains segregated trust
accounts with a licensed bank to hold clients” monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients’ monies as cash held on behalf of clients under
the current assets section of the consolidated statement of
financial position, and recognised the corresponding
payables to the respective clients as accounts payable on the
grounds that it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of

clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use clients’

monies to settle its own obligations.

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

28. RITEBREEE

REBHFFIEMN B A RRFFERITHRARIBL
ErERP  AFHEBBERBIRTELN
BEEFHE - ARBEEREPREDBRER
MBHARARRBDEERE TREFHAZR
T BHREAHEFPFEEX BRI A
MAEEE - it @R ERE S EREE
RN ERTRIE REMN R - NAEB AN SER
BEPREBEEAFE -

31 March 31 March

2021 2020

2021 % 2020 4F

3H31H 3A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBTFT

(Restated)

(&%)

Restricted bank balances SRR FIRITAERR 4,501 4,852

Short-term bank deposits FEAEAERTTIF 5K =
— with original maturity within —REEIAR=EAR

three months 76,826 191,831

Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 121,383 236,459

202,710 433,142
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28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (Continued) 28. RITEHRRRAE @)
Bank balances carried interest at floating rates ranging from RITEBIZFZHFENT0.01% = 1.89%
0.01% to 1.89% (2020: 0.01%) per annum. (20204 : 0.01%)&T 8 °
As at 31 March 2021, the short-term bank deposits with an MR2021F3A318 REIBEA=@A =K
original maturity of three months or less amounted to AR BRSR1TIE 5 A A R ¥ 76,826,000 7T
RMB76,826,000 (2020: RMB191,831,000). Term deposits (20204 : AR™191,831,0007T) ° EHiIfFE
bear interest rates of 0.8% (2020: from 1.46% to 2.80%) K FE R £0.8% (2020F © A 1.46% =
per annum. 2.80%) °
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 29. FETERRK
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
202145 20204
3H31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT ARMTF T
(Restated)
(5
Accounts payable FETBR X 10,564 -
Payables for clients monies B IE 2 T 3IE a
10,564 3
The ageing analysis of the accounts payable based on date REIREHIRIZIZ IR B B2 5 B FE (f BR
of services rendered at the end of each reporting period is HHBRE DM ¢
as follows:
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20215 20204
3A31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
(Restated)
(#&&E7)
0 — 60 days 02 60H 5,649 -
61 — 120 days 612 120H 196 -
121 — 180 days 1212180 H 113 -
Over 180 days 180 HMA & 4,606 3
10,564 3

The average credit period on accounts payable is 90 days.
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. Htn B REREFER

31 March 31 March
2021 2020
202145 2020 5
3H31H 3H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
(Restated)
(JeE5)
Other payables H b fET5RIE 1,848 10,446
Payroll payables BT TE 30,588 -
Other tax payables Efth fET IR 6,253 -
38,689 10,446

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. 8 AE
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20215 20204
3H31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
(Restated)
(&&E7)

Contract liabilities from customer arising E{EEZREELEHNTE AL
from value-added telecommunication BE

services 1,406 -

The Group received payments from customers based on
billing schedule as established in contracts.

The significant changes in contract liabilities as at 31 March
2021 are related to (i) acquisition of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB943,000 (Note 36) and (ii) revenue
recognised related to those contract liabilities and less billing
in advance of value-added telecommunication services.
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32. BORROWINGS 32. 58
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204
3A31H 3HA31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr AE®FT
(Restated)
(g &%)
Bank borrowings repayable: AEENRITEE -
Within one year —F R 29,000 -
29,000 -
Less: Amounts due within one year B SRR BRET —FA
shown under current liabilities S| EAmy B (29,000) =
Amounts shown under non-current TIRIEMBIBE NHEIA
liabilities = =
The carrying amount of the above borrowings are at fixed LEENREEREENERGTENARE
rate and are secured by certain accounts receivables of the L TRUEES AEB—FHREBARNE
Group, certain properties owned by and the personal FRAERNAZESHBOE TOERREHRD
guarantees provided by certain current and former directors B ABIRVEEHA -
of a subsidiary of the Group.
The effective interest rates of the Group's borrowings were TEBEBENERMENT
as follows:
20215
RMB’000
AR¥Fr
Effective interest rate (per annum): BRFH =
Fixed-rate bank borrowings EBIRITEE 4.4% to 5.35%

4.4% £5.35%
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HEAE
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
202145 2020 5
3A31H 3A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
(Restated)
(&&E5))
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERRE :
Within one year —FNR 11,247 3,592
More than one year but not exceeding —F A BT EBAMRE
two years 8,761 2,747
More than two years but not exceeding R4 FEBTHEBBRE
five years 5,933 -
More than five years AFMNUE 2,076 -
28,017 6,339
Less: Amount due for settlement with B RIRRESBE TR I12EAR
12 months shown under current BIEREEMFIE
liabilities (11,247) (3,592)
Amount due for settlement after 12 o SIRIERBEBETR12EA
months shown under non-current BEIEE B FIE
liabilities 16,770 2,747
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statements of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis
of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes.

34. JEIERIR

R A MBI KRF IR E - & TIRE
MBREERBECDEE - LT RAMBHRE
B W EIRER RS DT o

31 March 31 March
2021 2020
20214 20204
3A31H 3HA31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARKFT
(Restated)
(#e&E5)
Deferred tax assets BIERIREE 8,720 =
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIB A & (23,818) =
(15,098) -
Fair value
adjustment of
Fairvalue intangible
adjustment assets arising
on accounts from
Unrealised  and other acquisition of
profit  receivables subsidiaries Others Total
ERES KENEAR
REMER EENER
A% RENAY EEATE
BEH ERE HE Hit st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
At 1 April 2019 201964 418 - = = = =
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss sABE/ (MBETR) = = = - -
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R202083A318 %
202054R1H - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEmE A - 4,057 (25,005) (82) (21,030)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss STABE/(RBRHR) 5,488 (825) 1,203 66 5,932
At 31 March 2021 20213 H318 5,438 3,232 (23,802) (16) (15,098)
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DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The Group has unused tax losses of RMB490,863,000 and
RMB417,910,000 as at 31 March 2020 and 2021 which are
available for offset against future taxable profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised for the tax losses as
at 31 March 2020 and 2021 due to the unpredictability of
future profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax losses as
at 31 March 2021 are losses of RMB1,381,000,
RMBS5,128,000 and RMB3,591,000 and RMB17,278,000
will expire in 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 (2020: Nil).

34. IRFERKIE (&)

AEBH2020F 22021 F3 A31 B XRF
FFiTEE 18 A R ¥ 490,863,000 7T & A R
417,910,0007T + H 7] & $5 K 2K JE &% B @
F o BB AR HOE T R A9 S AR ORIME - R
2020 K 20213 A31 B E L Fi B 5518
BRELRIBEE - 2021F3A31HH K
HRARIBEEEIERERN 20224F « 20234
2024F R2025F B H M B E AR K
1,381,0007T + AR#¥5,128,0007C + AR
3,591,000 & A R # 17,278,000 7t (2020
Fm|m) o

SHARE CAPITAL 35. IRA
Number of
shares Amount
ROEE &8
RMB’000
AE®F T
(Restated)
(&=75))
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each Hi%0.01 B TR E B
Authorised: VETE
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, M 2019F 418 + 20204
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 3A31H 2020648 1H
202193 A31H 10,000,000,000 87,661
Issued and fully paid: BERITRAE
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, R2019F4H 18 - 20203 A
1 April 2020 318 20204 R 1H 3,550,496,836 29,848
Share issued BT M5 638,022,754 5,547
As at 31 March 2021 7202143 A31 8 4,188,519,590 35,395

The ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in
dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid
on the shares held.
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 36.

On 15 October 2020, the Company acquired 100% of
equity interests of KingNine Group for a consideration of
RMB1,012,224,000. KingNine Group has been accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group since the acquisition date.
The acquisition was made as part of the Group's strategy to
expand its business.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
KingNine Group as at the date of acquisition was as follows:

EBE

720204 10 A 15 H + &R RIULBE KingNine
£ B Wi00%k #E REARARIK
1,012,224,000 7 ° KingNine £ & B Y B B
HREARIAREENNEB AR o #1T%
W RAEBETEERER . —&5 -

KingNine 52 B &) ] & 3 51 & B ) B BN UK
BRI QAT

Notes RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT

Purchase consideration transferred: EEEEIENE
Cash consideration ReRE (@) 646,149
Contingent consideration HARME (b) -
Fair value of 638,022,754 ordinary shares RN A2 E£77638,022,754 %
of the Company issued LR A FE © 366,075
1,012,224
Fair value: NSEUIIE
Plant and equipment B 24,836
Intangible assets B EE 185,947
Right-of-use assets FREEE 26,084
Equity instrument at fair value through TR ERT AR M2 ERER
other comprehensive income T H 4,563
Deferred tax assets BELEFIBEE 4,057
Inventories FE 2,006
Accounts receivable FEUS AR X 267,412
Prepayments and other receivables TR R IE I B At FE U R I 289,593
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTLHEER 45,771
Borrowings BE (55,000)
Accounts payable FERTBR SR (12,249)
Other payables HAb FERTFRIE (276,766)
Contract liabilities BHEE (943)
Tax payable AN (9,936)
Lease liabilities HEBE (26,084)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHIBEE (25,087)
Net identifiable assets acquired B R EEFE 444,204
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR (d) (13,804)
Goodwill BHE 581,824
Total consideration RELRZE 1,012,224
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 36.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

¥Ba6te)

ERAKBHEBARNRERESNNAT

RMB’000
AR¥TFT
Cash and cash equivalents paid ENBEeRBECEEYD (390,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUREBREKIFASEEY 45,771
Total net cash outflow FIRE MR8 (344,229)
Pro-forma BE

The acquired business contributed total revenue of
RMB264,368,000 and net profit of RMB65,835,000 to the
Group from their acquisition date to 31 March 2021. Had
these companies been consolidated from 1 April 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income would have shown pro-forma
revenue of RMB507,892,000 and profit for the year of
RMB42,261,000.

Notes:

(a) The valuation of the consideration payables was carried out by an
independent professional qualified valuer. Cash consideration of
RMB390,000,000 was settled at the acquisition date. The remaining
cash consideration of RMB280,000,000 will be settled by the
Company in four instalments of RMB70,000,000 each on 31 July
2021, 31 July 2022, 31 July 2023 and 31 July 2024 as per the sale
and purchase agreement. The fair value of the consideration payables
as at 15 October 2020 is approximately RMB256,149,000, which is
based on the present value of the consideration payables discounted
using the discount rate of 4%.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount is the consideration
payables is RMB260,837,000.
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BRECEEEWEASEEE2021F3 A
BNTALEMASEEERKRALBE ARE
264,368,0007T & 4 | A R ¥ 65,835,000
TT o MZEATIEA 202054 A1 B4R E
iR Bl ABEREMEERERBERE
Z WA AR 507,892,000 7T K & 3% F A
R#42,261,0007T °

Kt -

() BUEELERGEMSETEMNKENHE-
BE KB AR 390,000,000 AU B HI4ES ©
# TR &R E AR 280,000,000 T E & #
FEAARF S MEFE A R 70,000,000 7T 7%
202147 A318 202247 A318 - 202347
A318%202447 A31 A%t 2020410 A
15 BEMREN R FELN A AR 256,149,000
JC DERRAR R 4% BENEMRENR
B -

M2021F3A31 0 ENREZRAEAARE
260,837,000 7T °
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Certain founders of the KingNine Group (the "Founders”) have
undertaken to the Company pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement that the audited consolidated profit attributable to the
equity holders of the KingNine Group would not be less than:

(i) RMB60,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commenced on 1 April 2019 and ended on 31 March 2020;

(i) RMB90,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commenced on 1 April 2020 and ending on 31 March 2021;

(iii) RMB 120,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commencing on 1 April 2021 and ending on 31 March 2022;

(iv) RMB 150,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commencing on 1 April 2022 and ending on 31 March 2023;
and

(v) RMB180,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine Group
commencing on 1 April 2023 and ending on 31 March 2024.

In the event that the actual amount of the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to the equity holders of the KingNine Group for any
guarantee period is less than the guaranteed profit in respect of such
guarantee period, the Founders are expected to compensate the
Company by paying the Company an amount in cash equal to (A -
B)/C)xD)-E

Where

A = the sum of: (i) the amount of the guaranteed profit in respect of
such guarantee period; and (ii) the amount of the guaranteed profit in
respect of each guarantee period preceding such guarantee period;

B = the sum of: (i) the actual amount of the audited consolidated net
profit/net loss attributable to equity holders of the KingNine Group for
such guarantee period; and (ii) the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity holders of the
KingNine for each guarantee period preceding such guarantee period;

C = RMB600,000,000 (i.e. the sum of the amount of the guaranteed
profit in respect of each guarantee period);

D = RMB779,392,971 (i.e. the consideration less the amount of the
consideration paid, or payable, by the Company to Zhong Zhi Xin
Zhuo Capital Company Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo"), one of the
sellers);

E = the sum of the amount of any such compensation which has been

paid by the Founders in respect of each guarantee period preceding
such guarantee period.
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36. ¥a6t=)

Hret - (&)

(b)

KingNine £ & TRI# A ([BIIRA D EREER
Wk [ AN X Bl GRS » KingNine #Ez 358 A FEIG A
BERES RN TEER

(i) KingNine &£ @ g1 20194 4 A 1 B £ % 2020
FIANBLENTBRFENARE
60,000,000 JT :

(if) KingNine £ E F 20204 4 A 1 H#ZE 2021
FIANB LN BFEHARK
90,000,000 7T,

(iii) KingNine & B g1 20214 4 A 1 B % 2022
FIANBLEMBBRFENARKE
120,000,000 7T :

(iv)  KingNine %@ f12022F 4 A 1 H#EZ 2023
FIANBEMNMBFENARE
150,000,000 7T : &

(v) KingNine £ B #2023 44 A 1 H# = 2024
FIANB LN BEFEFEHARK
180,000,000 7T °©

i (2] 4R 2B BARS B9 KingNine 52 B #2535 5 A JES
BEZESHFNNERSERRZRELHBOR
Fm Al EHAIRABGL TARRHE - ARXA
MR BAR & S HEFR (A - B)Y/C) x D) - EH)
BEEeRE

Hep

A= ()ZRBHRORFDN S EGH)ZRE
HAR AT S REMRMNREEN SR M

B = ()& R & B By KingNine R Bl i &5 75 5 A J&
HISEREAEN,/BIRFROERSE : H)
AR 7 EARE AT SR 38 BRI A0 KingNine #2358 A
BEEEREAMT/ BRFENEREE M

C = AR % 600,000,000 7t (BN &R & HAFE A9 (R &
mA SR A)

D = AR¥779,392,971 7T (BIRER AR FE A
5 & [A1Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited([FEZF] BHZ ) IHHRES
)

E =8I A B N2 RZ B AT SR E RN ERE
BARRIE SR 2 o
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Subject to the compliance of all applicable laws and regulations
(including the GEM Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code), in the
event that the sum of the actual amount of the audited consolidated
net profit attributable to equity holders of the KingNine for each
guarantee period is equal to or more than RMB1,000,000,000, it is
expected that:

the Company would pay the sellers an additional consideration
in the amount of RMB150,000,000, subject to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s grant of the approval for the listing of and
permission to deal in the additional shares, and would settle
such payment by issuing additional shares to one of the sellers
on the 10th business day after the date on which the audited
consolidated financial statements of the KingNine Group for
the last guarantee period is approved by the board of directors
of the KingNine; and

ii. such additional shares would be issued at an issue price per
share equal to the volume weighted average closing price per
share for the 30 consecutive trading days up to and including
the last trading day that is five business days immediately prior
to the date on which such additional shares are allotted and
issued.

The valuation of the contingent consideration was carried out by an
independent professional qualified valuer. The fair value of the
contingent consideration as at 31 March 2021 is insignificant, on the
basis that profit guarantee could be fulfilled by the KingNine Group in
respect of each guarantee period and that the audited consolidated
net profit attributable to equity holders of the KingNine for each
guarantee period equal to or more than RMB1,000,000,000 could not
be fulfilled by the KingNine Group.

The fair value of the shares issued was determined by reference to
their quoted market price of HK$0.66 at the date of acquisition.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The acquisition-related costs of RMB13,391,000 have been expensed
and are included in administrative expenses. The attributable costs of
the issuance of the equity instruments of approximately RMB44,000
(equivalent to HK$50,000).

The gross amount of accounts and other receivables was

RMB566,367,000 and it is expected that certain portion of the
contractual amounts cannot be collected.
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37. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 37. BIKERIFTE

Hong Kong

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only
to the maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per
employee, which contribution is matched by the employees.

The PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
PRC government. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs as determined by
respective local government authority to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is
to make the specified contributions under the scheme.
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  38.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flow were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

MBEBHELERENYER

TRANAKERYHADELABENE
B BRASMIFRSEDY - WKEPEL
MEBEERZSFHESRECHRRRERER
ENAKENGARERERDBERUTE
BELBRSRE

Lease Consideration

Borrowings liabilities payable Total
Ei- HEAR EARE “st
(Note 32) (Note 33) (Note 36)
(HfiE32) (Hf#33) (it 36)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARETFIT ARETFIT ARETFIT
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) 20194 H1H
(& =51) - 9,247 - 9,247
Interest expenses FBHS - (183) - (183)
Repayment Y = (3,418) = (3,418)
Addition NE = = = -
Exchange difference fERER - 693 - 693
At 31 March 2020 and 202063 A31H
1 April 2020 (Restated) 52020441 H
(g&E5) - 6,339 - 6,339
Acquisition of subsidiaries 10PN 55,000 26,084 256,149 337,233
Interest expenses FBHS 914 811 4,688 6,413
Interest paid BEAFIE (914) (811) - (1,725)
Repayment BE (26,000) (9,807) - (35,807)
Addition NE — 6,660 - 6,660
Exchange difference N = - (1,259) = (1,259)
At 31 March 2021 M2021F3H31H 29,000 28,017 260,837 317,854
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 36 and 43
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

The executive Directors are the key management personnel
of the Group. Details of their remuneration are disclosed in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged over years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash, borrowings and equity attributable to owner of
the Company, comprising share capital, retained profits and
other reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debt.
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

A subsidiary of the Group (i.e. ZZCF) is regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and is
required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of the SFC. The required
liquid capital according to the rules of the SFC was
HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.
The management monitors ZZCF's liquid capital regularly to
ensure it meets the minimum liquid capital requirement in
accordance with the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules adopted by the SFC.

The gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group’s
borrowings by the Group’s equity as follow:

40. EXEREE &)

AEE—FHBAR (AP EEADTERME)
XEAFMAEEBERZES((BEE DA
& BARBEIESRIETETREER
RE o 7202143 A31H K 202043 A 31
H BESHRAUWMAEZRBDELRA
3,000,000 7T - EEETHEEPHEER
TEREZRBERN  UBREEREES
Hz (BHERBE (FRER)RED - mi
Eiﬂi/m@]éfﬁfﬁi °©

BELERARENEERANEENEDS
HEWT

20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT ARBT T
(Restated)
(F&=51))
Borrowings BE 29,000
Total equity RS HA%E 1,015,631 648,630
Gearing ratio AfEt X 2.9% Nil £
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1. €@MIT A
Categories of financial instruments LRI EAEER
20214 2020 %
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFIT
(Restated)
(#x&E7))
Financial assets ERMEE
Equity instrument at FVTOCI BRATE AEMEERE
RiEmT A 1,328 =
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFABRNEMEE 5,061 3,275
Amortised cost BEEAR 553,485 655,705
559,874 658,980
Financial liabilities SRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEK AT ENEREE 360,854 16,788

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments comprise of bank
balances and cash, loan receivables, deposits, accounts
receivable and other receivables, convertible loan receivable
at FVTPL, financial assets at FVTPL, cash held on behalf of
clients, accounts payable, other payables and accruals,
consideration payable, borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risks (currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. There has been no change to the
types of the Group’s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41. TR T E (%)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREEEERBE#)
policies (Continued)
Market risk i % B fE
Currency risk B
The Group's exposure to currency risk attributable to loan REEEGAERERBEEE I EE
receivables, deposits, accounts receivable the convertible SHENEWRER  1Be  BIWERER  RAFE
loan receivable at FVTPL, other assets and receivables, bank Bt A\BHRER IR ER - HEEK
balances and other payables and accruals which are FEURFRIE ~ $RITAER N E b B~ FE R EEt
denominated in the currencies other than the functional ERELANERRER - EIEETEWETI
currency of the entity to which they related. The B - LARER M B Ut R EUE & R e
management manages and monitors this exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency R EBR  AEBUIINESTENEKEE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the REsaEMNERENT
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
=R BE
20214 20204 20214 20204

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTFR ARETT AR®¥FTH ARETT

(Restated) (Restated)
(#&E7) (#2&E7))
us$ EyI - 5,209 32,350 290,928
HK$ BT 4,391 11,579 84,992 352,996
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
a 5% increase/decrease in functional currency of respective
entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in post-
tax profit, where functional currency of respective foreign
entities had weakened 5% against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% strengthening of functional currency of
respective entities against the relevant foreign currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit
and the balances below would be negative.

. E®MIT R

MBEREEBERBEK )

5 E kR ()
BE¥mEp (&)
BB DT

A TSRES T TIRIEAAEER 2SS
HEINE 2 THE, B2 ES% EE 5% &
AEREEEABEANIREINNERR L E
BREMEIINEERSIRBEEBRAMERZ
BUREL R - HREDMEBEAINEGHE
ZHAXNERER - XNHEHIRL5%
ZINBERBERERFIHRE - U TEH
FORBBRENIE N - B ARSI E A
DR E¥ L ABINERES% - AR ERE
DR E¥ HABINETES% - Bl& EEF)
EEXRFENERZEE - MATNERERE -

USs$ HK$
3 BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBEF T
2021 20215

Decrease in profit for the year F R ) e 1,351 3,365

2020 (Restated) 2020 F (RE5)
Decrease in profit for the year F R ARk 4 11,929 14,519
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note 28 for
details). The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and deposits.

The management considers the cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from held
for trading investments. The Group’s equity price risk is
mainly concentrated on equity instruments operating in
securities and brokerage and internet industry sectors
quoted in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. If
the equity prices of the held for trading investments had
been 5% higher/lower (2020: 5%), post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 March 2021 would increase/decrease by
RMB211,000 (2020: post-tax loss would decrease/increase
by RMB137,000) as a result of the changes in fair value.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group’s major customers are mostly
reputable public entities.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 23% of the
total accounts receivable was due from the Group's largest
customer and 62% of the total accounts receivable was due
from the Group’s top five customers as at 31 March 2021.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets of the Group as
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position,
respectively best represents the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk for accounts receivable,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, upon application of HKFRS 9, except for items that
are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the remaining accounts receivable
are grouped under a provision matrix according to internal
credit rating based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to repayment histories for recurring customers and
current past due exposure for the new customers. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on accounts
balances individually or based on provision matrix for the
year ended 31 March 2021, and performs impairment
assessment under expected credit loss model for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, respectively. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables. As such, the directors of the Company
considered the risk over ECL to be immaterial after
considering counterparty financial background and
creditability. Accordingly, the loss allowance of other
receivables is measured under 12m ECL in respect of other
receivables, amounting to RMB3,000 (2020: RMB Nil) as at
31 March 2021.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Before granting the loan advances, the management of the
Group has obtained an understanding to the credit
background of the debtors and undertaken an internal
credit approval process. The management closely monitored
the subsequent settlement of the individual loan. The loss
allowance is individually measured at an amount equals to
12m ECL since as there had been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. In determining the ECL
for these assets, the Directors have taken into account the
financial position of the counterparties, the industries they
operate, as well as their latest available operating results, in
estimating the probability of default of each of these
financial assets occurring within their respective loss
assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in
each case. Based on assessment by the Directors, the loss
given default is low by reference to value of collateral and
repayment histories of the debtors. The Directors consider
the 12m ECL for loan receivables is insignificant.

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL for bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

41. €T H %)

BREREEEERBE &)

1= B B2 K el 1B 51 (4)

AEBEHNABEERRFRFEEEATER

Al :

Category Description Accounts receivable Other receivables

=il A P& W B =K H W KR

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due credit-impaired
amounts

i9E HFEFNEDRREE - B EEM S HRBEERR 128 AFRHEEEE
BEAIT IR — WEEERE

Watch list The counterparty frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
due dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired

BREE HFEHRERDNBHREN  ERE THEHEEEE 218 RE A E EE51E
RBUFE — WEEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources

e2=3 BBARE R ELE BRI IR FHIFRHEEEE HIfRHREEEE
=5 Rz B 1) P HER LA R ERZE 1S AN — WEEERE — WEEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired impaired impaired

ER BERBERNEELREERE > HRHEEEE >HEHEEEE

— EERE — EERIE
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41. EMIE®)
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEERBE#®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 /@ Bz R B 771 (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRV AREEFBETTEBEEEBEBTE M
Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL SRMEENEERMRAE
assessment:
Financial assets at External Internal Gross carrying amount
amortised cost Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL as at 31 March
REBSERNATTERN
EREE e HEBEETR ABEETR 2EAR2BAEBEESR M3 A31BNEREEAE

20204 20215
RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT AR®TR

(Restated)
(&)

Accounts receivable 23 N/A Note Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 3,210 311,636

PR K TER Pl sE T HREBEEER (BEER)

Deposits and other 24 N/A Note 12m ECL 203,664 26,762

receivables

Be RE M EWFIE TR PiEE 12EAESEEEE

Loan receivables 21 N/A Note 12m ECL 15,686 12,690

FEU &K TEA PiE REARREEER

Bank balance 28 IG* Note 12m ECL 433,142 202,710

RITEEER REZA > M 2@ ATEESEEEE

* Investment Grade — The Standard & Poor’s rating of the Group's * RERF — AEB T EZRITIRF A EE BT
significant bank accounts &

Note: As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies Wit : ERARBEERREEMN —&70  AREGE
internal credit rating for its customers. The following table provides EFEANEENR - TREHBBEKER
information about the exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable AR R H R WCRIE (2 BIER 2 TR HE
and deposits and other receivables which are assessed based on BB RRERE R 12EARREEBEETIE)
lifetime ECL provision matrix and 12m ECL, respectively. MIEERBRAENER -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

41.

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

£RTHR®)

BREREEEERBE &)

1= B B2 K el 1B 51 (4)

31 March 2020
202043 A 31H

31 March 2021
20213 A31H

Deposits
Average  Accounts  andother ~ Average  Accounts Other
Internal Credit rating REEEFTR lossrate  receivable  receivables  lossrate receivable receivables
e kA Httr
TEBRE  RUEERN  EBEEUE TUBREE  BRER  BRRE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
AEEK AEK ARH ARH
(Restated)  (Restated)
(&s5)  (KE50)
Receivables carried forward from B UREEHT B A 714
acquired of subsidiaries* B REMEOE * 0.00% = = 0.00% 82,421 19,196
Low risk EER 0.05% 3,210 203,664 0.05% 211,595 7,566
Watch list BRRE 1.15% = = 1.15% 17,620 -
3,210 203,664 311,636 26,762

The accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables acquired in
a business combination were initially measured at fair value. There is no
material difference had it been carried at gross carrying amount less ECL
allowance since acquisition. Accordingly, no expected credit loss

* FEBE IR KRR IR R A KR
IR AT IEEE - KB RIZARETAR B B TR A=
EEREESRATFEENGA « Bt - FAB
UL BB TR T TR R 5 R IR A ©

allowance is recognised for this balance during the year.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant

information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided RMB310,000
(2020: nil) impairment allowance for accounts receivable,

based on the lifetime ECL provision matrix.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41. €ERMIHE®)
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEERBE#®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 /@ Bz R B 771 (&)
As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided RMB3,000 (2020: MR2021 3 H31H - ASERE12{EAE
RMB Nil) impairment allowance for deposits and other HEEEES RItiEs R E i EW IR R
receivables respectively, based on the 12m ECL. AR 3,0007T (2020 F : AREEZIT) AR
B o
The following table shows a movement in lifetime ECL that TERIREREE(LEFEWE T ER
has been recognised for accounts receivable under the M2 EEE = EEEMEE -
simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HITE Hf 2 HIFTEHEA
FEEF#E FEEEE
(AEEERE) (EERE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT ARBTIT

As at 31 March 2019 (Restated) M20196F3 H31H
(FE=51) = - -
Expected credit losses recognised B HERIEREEEE = = -

As at 31 March 2020 (Restated) 20203 A31H

(rE5) - - —
Provision of expected credit loss TEAEEBERE 310 = 310
As at 31 March 2021 R2021F3A31H 310 - 310
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41. TEITHE &)
Financial risk management objectives and BREREEEERBE#)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 B3 Bz R B 71 (&)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRINRERIZ D K E A B R IBRER R B
that has been recognised for deposits and other receivables. BREEREER
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
ZHATEH
1218 A FEFE
RBEEER (Z&RE) HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARBTIT

As at 31 March 2019 (Restated) M2019F3 H31H
(F£5E51) = - -
Expected credit losses recognised 2 HERIEREEEHE = = -

As at 31 March 2020 (Restated) PR 20203 A31H

(5&E:5) = = =
Provision of expected credit loss ~ JEHA= EAS1B5: % g -
As at 31 March 2021 720213 A31H 3 - 3
Liquidity risk HEE2EE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REEBRBESRER AEBEERHERE
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed BEERAETENBE e KRESZEBYKE - N
adequate by the management to finance the Group's ARASEZEERHEES RFRRSTERE
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash TE o

flows.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 41. EMIE®)
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEERBE#®)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEL R (E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRV AREFBITESRBEZATEY
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. FHIA - ZERDEBEERARZRMRE S
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted mEMAEBRWERNRAZZEHER
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date Bl o ZRPIEFEMERAEEHERE °
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
Repayable
Weighted  on demand Total
average or within More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year 1-5 years Syears  cash flows amount
il RERY RERRE
FHENE RA-FhEE 1258 BB5E REAR REE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
% AERETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTL
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31H
Accounts payable FERTARR - 10,564 - - 10,564 10,564
Other payables and HitiERFIER
accruals [EstER - 32,436 - - 32,436 32,436
Consideration payable FERH(E 4 70,000 194,324 - 264,324 260,837
Borrowings E1= 5.35 29,000 - - 29,000 29,000
Lease liabilties HERRE 5.5 13,765 15,141 2,877 31,783 28,017
155,765 209,465 2,877 368,107 360,854
At 31 March 2020 R202053A31R
(Restated) (55
Accounts payable FERT AR - 3 - - 3 3
Other payables and HiERsER
accruals [Ex+E R = 10,446 = = 10,446 10,446
Lease liabilties HEAR 282 3,699 2,774 - 6,473 6,339
14,148 2,774 - 16,922 16,788
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of the year. The information
about how the fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used) are disclosed in respective notes.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their fair value.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and

Level 3.

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2021

42. €RMT A2 AFEFE

() AEEZEEHEENQFE

HEZSMAERSMAMS
AFE

AEBEZETEREENRFRZA
FEFE - ERFeMEELTFEN
EEE(LERMAMGETERZE)
BRNERENESHEE

EERREAMBARNRPIREHK
AN ERMEENERABBEIRE
BEREQFEMES -

H E20214 K202063 A318 I &
B F—N F_R/NE=ZH MBI
fmE R o

20213 53152 A FEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—R et 1 E=8 HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARKFT AR®FT AR%TrT
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL IR A (ET AEZRA
SREE 5,061 - - 5,061
Unquoted equity BRAFEGFAREMS
instrument at FVTOCI s ERERE
%TH - - 1,328 1,328
5,061 - 1,328 6,389
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 42. TRTRAZAFETE®

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets () XEERKLEHEEUATLE
and financial liabilities that are measured STEZEARMEERSRAEGZ
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) NFEE (&)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2020 20203 F31HZ R FEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—8H FH F=R FEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFIT AREFIT AREFT ARKETT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(#eE7) (#eE7) (&) (KeE5)
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at FVTPL 12 A F{EFT ABZREH
TREE 3,275 - - 3,275
(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) F=RAFEFTEMNLIER
measurements
2021 % 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT ARMTF T
(Restated)
(RRE5)
Unquoted equity investment EREERKRE
Opening balance HRA & - -
Acquired from the acquisition of B UM R A R
subsidiary 4,563 -
Total gain in other comprehensive REMEERES 2 WS B85
income (3,235) -
Closing balance HRER A 84 1,328 -
Convertible loan receivable JEUL AT A B 7R
Opening balance HRA &5 4 - 144,097
Repayment B - (7,323)
Change in fair value NEEZE - 51,032
Disposal e - (193,146)
Exchange difference VE W =58 - 5,340
Closing balance HRaR 454 - -
Change in fair value for the year FFAEBENFEREATEZS
included in profit or loss - 51,032
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 4. TRMTHAZAVEE®)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) E=RAFETENYERE®)
measurements (Continued)
Significant Relationship of
Fairvalueasat  Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) and unobservable unobservable inputs
Financial assets 31 March hierarchy  key input(s) input(s) to fair value
TURESBE
SREE W3IA3MAZATE AVEER #EFERTESH EXTUERZY LATENBE
20205 2021%
RMB'000  RMB'000
NRETT ARBTR
Unquoted equity N/A 1,328 Level3 Market approach — in this Market multiples The higher the market
investment at approach, the appraisal value is multiples, the higher
FVTOCI — 12.14% based on the market fair value
equity investment in capitalisation of the entities in
a private company in similar industries with Discount of lack of  The higher the discount,
the PRC consideration of marketability marketability the lower fair value
of discount
BATEAARMRE  TEA 1328 E=4 migE—EZA AN FEEE THREH ERTSEEES A
haE EREER DRERERITROMET TEHS
RE — R E— 8 YR RERNTERE
TLARRIH12.14% i3 RemEREE  KRER ATEEE
BERE
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COMPANY

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

reporting period are set out below:

43. XRANHBRAFE

S

BERRAEEEZMBRARINFEETIM

Particulars of
issued share

Place of capital/
establishment/ registered  Attributable of interest held
Name of subsidiary operations capital by the Group as at 31 March  Principal activities
BRITRA/ M3A318
(- PNEEE B,/ EEhE  SMEREE AEBfEERGL TEER
20215 2020
% %

ZZCl Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,141,140 100 100 Provision of corporate advisory
and investment advisory
services

PEERCERERRAA 0 10,141,140 T RECEERRREBERNRS

ZZC] Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$10 100 100 Money lending

hEEREERRAA BB 10787T fEE

77l Corporate Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Provision of corporate services
and money lending

REERPEBRBERAA 0 18T RECERBREE

77 Capital International (US) LLC ~ USA - 100 100 Money lending

77 Capital International (US) LLC = = BE

Asian Capital (Qianhai) Investment  The PRC US$400,000 100 100 Investment holding
Management Limited* (note 5)

AYMEETREREESER F 400,000 7T REER
BRAT(KaE5)

KingNine Holdings Limited Cayman Islands US$1,548 100 N/A  Investment holding

KingNine Holdings Limited REHS 1,548 7T TER REBER

Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* ~ The PRC US$10,000,000 100 N/A  Investment holding
(notes 1 and 5)

CEREMRARAA i 10,000,000 7T TER REER
(Bist1R5)

Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., The PRC RMB100,000,000 100 N/A  Data centre services and
Ltd.* ("DaLian Kingwisoft") back-office services
(note 1)

AECZREMRRNERRE  HE AEE TER  EBRPORBRESRS
(TRELE]) (K1) 100,000,000 7C
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 43. XA THKE X RFE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Particulars of
issued share
Place of capital/
establishment/ registered  Attributable of interest held
Name of subsidiary operations capital by the Group as at 31 March  Principal activities
BRTRE/ M3A31A
il NGRS R/ &8E  SMEREE AEERBERHGL TEER
20215 20204
% %
Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data Services  The PRC RMB33,500,000 100 N/A  Data centre services and
Co., Ltd.* back-office services
M e 2R E HERS HE N NER  HBPORBRES RS
BRAH 33,500,000 ¢
Qingdao Nanyou Information The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
BEEMBEERIERAR HE AR TER  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7T
Dalian Kingwisoft Internet Service  The PRC RMB2,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* (formerly
known as Dalian Zhiyun
Consulting Services Co., Ltd.)
RELEREBERBIE HE AR TEA  ReRB
BRAA (FIBAEEEA AR 2,000,000 7C
BERAR)
Chengdu Rongzhi Hudong The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
ABREREREARAA HE AR TER  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7T
Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
RESERENRERAR HE AR TER  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7T
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., The PRC RMB 10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Ltd.* (note 2)
21| S ZRENEERAR HE AR TER  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7T
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 43. XA T E D BFE &)

COMPANY (Continued)
Particulars of
issued share
Place of capital/
establishment/ registered  Attributable of interest held
Name of subsidiary operations capital by the Group as at 31 March  Principal activities
BRIRE/ M3A318
WEARERE R/ &8hE  SMERHEE AEERBERMGL TEER
20214 2020
% %
Kunshan Kingwisoft Information  The PRC RMB 10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
BILEEEEMRERAR F AR TEA  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7¢
Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services  The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
A EREEEREERRA  HE AR TEA  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7¢
Luzhou Kingwisoft Technology The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
BENEEREEEREERRA B AR TEA  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7¢
Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet The PRC RMB10,000,000 100 N/A  Back-office services
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
EGLSBOMBNEERLR  HE AR TEA  ReRB
(Hizt2) 10,000,000 7T
Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology ~ The PRC RMB28,000,000 60 N/A  Back-office services
Co., Ltd.* (note 2)
("Dalian Zhiyin")
REBREHEREARAR & ARE NER  ReRB
(Hizr2)(TREBR]) 28,000,000 7
Mianyang Kingwisoft Zhiyuan The PRC RMB10,000,000 60 N/A  Back-office services
Internet Service Co., Ltd.*
(note 2)
GBS ZBR T HERE HE AR TEA  HekB
BRAR(Hat2) 10,000,000 7¢
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

note 1: Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries (collectively the “DalLian
Kingwisoft Group”), which are among the entities acquired in the
Acquisition, engage in business of provision of value-added
telecommunications services that is subject to restrictions imposed by
relevant PRC laws on foreign investors of foreign-invested
telecommunication enterprises which engage in the provision of
value-added telecommunications services.

Due to such restrictions under the relevant PRC laws, and as advised
by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, it was not viable for
KingNine to directly hold any equity ownership in the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group. Instead, KingNine, in line with common practice in
industries in the PRC subject to restrictions imposed by the PRC laws
on relevant foreign investors and/or foreign ownership on foreign-
invested enterprises, achieves effective control over, and receives the
entire economic benefits generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group
through a series of contractual agreements entered between
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (& £ & & &t & & R 2 A) (the
“WFOE"), an indirect wholly foreign owned subsidiary of KingNine
established in the PRC, on one hand, and each of the Dalian
Kingwisoft and its registered shareholders, on the other hand (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group, has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group, and is considered to have control over
the DalLian Kingwisoft Group. Consequently, the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group is considered to be subsidiaries of the Group and the financial
statements of the DaLian Kingwisoft Group are included in the
Group's consolidated financial statements from 15 October 2020, the
date of the Completion.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of current and future PRC laws and regulations which
could affect the Company’s ability to exercise control over the DaLian
Kingwisoft Group, its right to receive substantially all of the economic
interest generated by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, and its ability to
consolidate the financial results of the DaLian Kingwisoft Group into
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Company believes
that, based on the legal opinion obtained from the Company’s PRC
legal adviser, the Contractual Arrangements are legally binding and
enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and regulations.

note 2: These are subsidiaries of DaLian Kingwisoft.

note 3: The above summary lists only the subsidiaries which, in the opinion of
the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

note 4. Except for KingNine Holdings Limited, the above principal subsidiaries
are all held indirectly by the Company.

note 5: These are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

note 6:None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

i English name for identification only
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 43. XA THKE X RFE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material A EARIERERNIEEENE AR
non-controlling interests %5
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TR REAEAIEIERERNANEFIEE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling =N EI
interests:
Proportion of
ownership
Place of interests and (Loss)/profit
incorporation and  voting rights held allocated to Accumulated
principal place of by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
IEE IR FE =
AR Stk B R BENREE SRZHFERES
=N FTEEEMI REBERERELLH # (E518), R F HETEERER
20215 20215 20215
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT AREF T
Dalian Zhiyin Dalian 40% 1,023 12,921
REBE R A&
Individual immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests (300) 2,806
R IFERE R AR FEEAME QA
723 15,727
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 43. KRB B A BFE @)
COMPANY (Continued)
Summerised financial information in respect of the Group's EEEE ARSI AEEWE AT
subsidiary that has material non- controlling interests is set MBS ERIEEE 50T o LA N5 E B
out below. The summarised financial information below ZEIIARFTEBANR R EEHENEE -
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
Dalian Zhiyin REER
20214
RMB’000
AR¥FT
Current assets MENEE 32,835
Non-current assets JEmEEE 3,566
Current liabilities mENBE (4,223)
Non-current liabilities FRBALE -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RATEE ANELER 19,307
Non-controlling interests of Dalian Zhiyin NEBRIEERE 12,871
Revenue WA 26,398
Expenses X (23,841)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4F 3% Kl &2 2 T Y 25 4258 2,557
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable  ZX A B A FEAS % 71| K 2 I Uk 25 40 58
to owners of the Company 1,534
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable K8 %5 £R 32 IX KE 25 FE 1 0% K &2 2 T
to the non-controlling interests of Dalian Zhiyin sk 4858 1,023
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year £E A% 7 & 2 T Ui 25 48 28 2,557
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEBIR G FRE (4,708)
Net cash outflow from investing activities WEEBIR MR (552)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEERSMAFE =
Net cash outflow IR & O EE (5,260)
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

—4

44, KRR Tz MBARRRRIEE

2021 % 20204 20194
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M AREFT AREFT ARYTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E7) (ieE5)
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHTB A RIHRE 43 1,032,276 20,839 19,566
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note) & UF 8 A 5138 (K1) 179,001 = -
Plant and equipment R Ko %A 26 45 -
Total non-current assets IR EELRE 1,211,303 20,884 19,566
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note) F& UM B A a1z (f:E) - 570,994 581,565
Other assets and receivables (note) — E & & K JiE k18
(K15%) 396 459 355
Bank balances and cash (note) B1TESEIRS () 1,092 3,472 3,725
Total current assets REBEEHAE 1,488 574,925 585,645
Current liabilities HREBEE
Other payables and accruals H b A~ OB K e E A 919 8,687 313
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN NG L] 17,681 9,752 -
Consideration payables R (B 70,000 - -
Total current liabilities RBAGEHERE 88,600 18,439 313
Net current (liabilities)/assets R (AEEHE)
EEFE (87.112) 556,486 585,332
Non-current liabilities FRBES
Consideration payables ERRIEB 190,837 - -
Total non-current liabilities kRBEBRE 190,837 = -
Net assets EEFE 933,354 577,370 604,898
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners RAREE AEIERER
of the Company
Share capital N 35,395 29,848 29,848
Reserves HiE 897,959 547,522 575,050
Total Equity R 933,354 577,370 604,898
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44, N8 2 BRI R K i ()

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Note: ECL for amounts due from subsidiaries, other assets and receivables Hiat - B AR - EfhE E R EBGRIAA RIRTT 4
and bank balances and cash are assessed on a 12m ECL basis as there HEReNEREEBRR 12EAEREEBE
had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition HEETHHE  RERB VT HAUREERR
and impairment allowance is considered to be insignificant. W EBEE NSORERERERLTER -

Movement in the Company’s reserves ARFZEEES

Share Contributed
premium surplus  Translation Accumulated

(note) (note) reserve loss Total
B R1E AR

(Hizt) (Hzt) 5 e E4y @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00 RMB'000
ARBFIL ARBTT ARETT ARETT AREFIL

At 1 April 2019 (Restated) R201954 A1 R
(&=71) 584,124 16,655 21,323 (47,052) 575,050
Loss and total comprehensive loss  FAEE R 2 ME
for the year BReE - - 37,658 (65,186) (27,528)
At 31 March 2020 and R2020F3A31H
1 April 2020 (Restated) %2020F4 A1 H
(f=E3|) 584,124 16,655 58,981 (112,238) 547,522
Share issued BEITRR 360,528 - - - 360,528
Profit and total comprehensive loss £ U3 Al 2 28
for the year Rk = = (17,737) 7,646 (10,091)
At 31 March 2021 2021463 A31H 944,652 16,655 41,244 (104,592) 897,959
Note: The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair HiaF : RARBBARERIER L ATR IR AW R M
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the BRRIRG AT EERR I ETRRME EHTH
reorganisation prior to the Listing, over the nominal value of the AR RRID EEREEE o

Company’s shares issued in exchange thereafter.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 May 2021, Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited, being one of the controlling shareholders of the
Company within the meaning under the GEM Listing Rules,
has entered into the Performance Incentive Agreement with
Mr. ZENG Long, a director and a shareholder holding
approximately 49.0% of the total issued share capital of
Qingdao Jinliang Technology Co., Ltd. Details of the
Performance Incentive Agreement has been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 May 2021.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of the Company on 22
June 2021.
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Five Years' Financial Summary
LENBHE

AEERBEDBEYRFECXEREE AR
FOFZER R m R (J0HR A B 1% 2 8B ZWH

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-

controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

W WEBHBHHRWER)) N TX

2020/215%  2019/20%F  2018/194F  2017/184F  2016/17 4
Restated Restated Restated Restated
KE5 4 E KE5 L E 7
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
RESULTS E4
Revenue WA 266,163 15,096 3,367 224,368 185,320
Profit (loss) before tax BRI AR (B518) 37,782 1,583 (242,925) 22,757 58,860
Income tax (expense) credit FiEf (AxX) K% (10,906) (170) (696) (5,108) 9,808
Profit (loss) for the year FiaFl (EE) 26,876 1,413 (243,621) 17,649 68,668
Attributable to; AT ARG
Owners of the Company RRARHEAA 26,153 1,413 (243,621) 17,649 68,668
Non-controlling interests iR 723 = = = =
26,876 1,413 (243,621) 17,649 68,668
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES XZEREE
As at 31 March
M3 A31H
20214 20204 20194 20184 2017 4
Restated Restated Restated Restated
&Y &= &7 K&
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFLT AREFIT AREFTT AREFTT ARKFT
Total assets BEE 1,415,441 668,692 613,220 809,723 905,668
Total liabilities BEE (399,810) (20,062) (8,322) (16,154) (42,521)
Net assets BESE 1,015,631 648,630 604,898 793,569 863,147
Attributable to: AT ALRE :
Owners of the Company YiN/NCIE =N 999,904 648,630 604,898 793,569 863,147
Non-controlling interests FEiz it 2= 15,727 - - - -
1,015,631 648,630 604,898 793,569 863,147
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